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FOREWORD

Part Il of the L1O Final Report presents the detailed research, by operation, conducted by
King’s College London and developed by PA Consulting.



Part 11

Vi



Part 11

Case Study 1 — The Malayan Emergency (1948-1960) - David
Ucko

Historical Sketch of Operation
Historical Sketch

Origins of emergency

The ‘Malayan Emergency’ was declared by the British High Commission in Malaya in
1948 in response to attacks by Malayan communists on colonial labourers and planters.
The declaration of a state of emergency saw the introduction of armed forces to counter
the emerging communist rebel threat and gave the police added powers of arrest,
detention and curfew. From then on, the British military and police launched a
counterinsurgency campaign to root out what became known as ‘communist terrorists’
(CTs) from the countryside and jungle. Despite initial setbacks, the campaign was
ultimately a success and the Emergency was declared over in 1960.

The Malaya area had been under effective British rule since 1874, when the British
government finalised a series of treaties with local Malay rulers. In 1896, some of these
areas were merged to form the Federated Malay States. In April 1930, the Malayan
Communist Party (MCP) came into being, stating as its main objective the creation of a
Soviet Republic of Malaya. Following early setbacks, the MCP was able to rebuild its
resources and organisation during the late 1930s. Nonetheless, the sway of the
organisation remained limited to sections of the ethnic-Chinese population of Malaya,
whilst attracting scant interest from either the Malay or ethnic-Indian communities.

During the Japanese invasion of Malaya in World War Il (WW?2), the MCP sought to
establish itself as a local resistance movement, fighting for Malayan independence.
Pushed out of Malaya by the Japanese, the British government backed the MCP’s
initiative and — mostly from 1944 onwards — supplied what became known as the
Malayan People’s Anti-Japanese Army (MPAJA) with arms and equipment. With the
Japanese surrender in 1945, however, the MPAJA never engaged in full combat and
therefore remained an armed and trained jungle-based force inspired by a particular blend
of nationalism and communism.

Within days of the Japanese surrender, the MPAJA had assumed control of swathes of
Malaya. The Allies were able to coax the MPAJA into a disarmament agreement,
whereby some (but by no accounts all) of their weapons were collected, the organisation
was formally disbanded and the MCP legitimised. Britain reacted quickly to the new
status quo by establishing a British Military Administration (BMA), which was to run the
country on a temporary basis. Nonetheless, the hiatus in British control had radicalised
the Malayan communists and led to British rule being increasingly questioned. So far,
MCP activity was limited to strikes and various disruptive activities targeting Malaya’s
economy. While the BMA sought to clamp down on such activities, the MCP retained a
shadow network of formally disbanded MPAJA militants that could be activated when
necessary.
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It was Britain’s intention to work towards Malayan independence following WW2.
However, the details of the transfer of authority and the British post-war strategy in
Malaya set the foreign administration on a collision course with the MCP and other
Malayan associations. The BMA was accused of corruption and of self-serving
mismanagement, complaints that alienated large sections of the Malay population.
Furthermore, British attempts to structure a Malayan nation were ignorant of the ethnic-
Malay animosity toward the ethnic-Chinese community — while the Chinese were
politically disenfranchised, they were financially dominant and threatened ‘Malay jobs’.
It should therefore have been unsurprising that the ethnic-Malay community would
boycott the UK-brokered ‘Malay Union’ of 1946, which enfranchised the Chinese.
Seeking to learn from its mistakes, the subsequent formulation of nationhood — the 1948
‘Federation of Malaya’ — again disenfranchised the ethnic-Chinese, who were effectively
barred from acquiring Malayan nationality. While this reversal satisfied the Malays, it did
nothing to soothe the radicalism of the Chinese communists. Months later, the former-
MPAJA member Chin Peng activated the Malayan People’s Anti-British Army
(MPABA) and launched an armed struggle against the British administration. MPABA
was later renamed the Malayan Races Liberation Army (MRLA) in an ultimately
unsuccessful bid to appeal to the non-Chinese communities of Malaya.

Early phase of emergency

By the end of 1948, High Commissioner Sir Edward Gent and his successor, Sir Henry
Gurney, had announced Emergency Measures that were to help the security forces
combat the insurgency while operating within the law. The launch of the armed campaign
caught the British authorities by surprise and — until 1950 - the counterinsurgency
campaign was largely ineffective. A shortage of intelligence assets and experience
combined with a lack of familiarity with the ethnic-Chinese communities and resulted in
a counterinsurgency campaign that was more focused on ‘bandits’ and criminal activity
than the political and economic factors fuelling the rebellion. Meanwhile, the military
modus operandi was predicated on large-scale sweeps. These sweeps achieved some
limited results in the early days of the Emergency, when the rebels were still operating in
large units and from camps holding up to 300 rebels. Nonetheless, the sweeps were noisy,
high-profile affairs, which made it virtually impossible to catch the communists by
surprise, particularly as the latter begun operating in smaller units. Furthermore, the use
of overwhelming force was likely to convert new recruits to the MRLA cause. During
these early years, the security forces were also plagued by an unclear chain-of-command,
uncertain leadership and inadequate training. Due to a lack of interaction with the
Chinese community, there was no real understanding of what motivated the rebellion or
how to undermine its appeal. Progress was therefore at best slow and frustration ensued.

During this period, the MRLA launched several attacks on the British security forces and
the local population; the incidence of violent attacks rose from 1,274 in 1948 to 6,092 in
1951. Armed predominantly with rifles from the MPAJA campaign and whatever they
could steal from the police force, the MRLA tended toward ambushes and generally
avoided prolonged battle. Lacking external backing or a state sponsor, the MRLA often

2 of 246



Part 11

attacked unarmed civilians, whom they would intimidate for supplies and support.
Rubber estates and tin mines were also popular targets.

Despite the clear advantage afforded to the MRLA during this early phase of the
campaign, it was unable to establish territorial control as intended. This stalemate
prompted the MRLA to withdraw to the jungle to rethink its strategy. The result was a
directive, released in October 1951, which ordered the MRLA to desist from
indiscriminate attacks on civilians. In response to the expansion of security forces in the
countryside, the MRLA was also directed to withdraw deep into the jungle and disperse
into small platoons so as to avoid the large-scale sweeps then characteristic of the British
counterinsurgency campaign. The effect of this directive on the subsequent course of the
counterinsurgency campaign should not be understated.

Evolution of emergency

The MRLA benefited from close relations with the Chinese ‘squatters’ — a group of
around 500,000 ethnic-Chinese Malayans who lived in camps and villages and provided a
ready source of material, intelligence and recruits for the rebel group. The course of the
British counterinsurgency campaign therefore changed radically in 1950, when
Lieutenant General Sir Harold Briggs was appointed Director of Operations and
implemented a plan to divorce the squatters from the MRLA. The plan urged close
cooperation between the civil administration, the police and the military, but the most
radical proposal suggested the establishment of ‘New Villages’ in which the Chinese
squatters were to be relocated and thus isolated from the rebel group. The Home Guard,
formed in the early months of the Emergency, was deployed to provide security in the
New Villages. Surveillance was also facilitated by the introduction of identity cards and
the registration of each adult living in every village — measures adopted in the early days
of the Emergency but whose effectiveness was now greatly enhanced.

Overall, the resettlement was a success. Though the squatters were given no warning of
their impending relocation (a means of limiting interference by MRLA cadres), the
process was generally organised so as to minimise disruption to the locals. Despite
inevitable complaints and protests from understandably aggrieved workers and families,
the welfare and the political and economic opportunities of the New Villages helped to
compensate for some of the hardship. Such measures were appreciated by the squatters,
whose support for the MRLA was often a result of general poverty, political
disenfranchisement and landlessness.

As a result of the new policies, the MRLA gradually found it more difficult to interact
with the squatter population, its source of recruits and materiel. Not only did the rigorous
registration policies prevent the MRLA from infiltrating the settlements, but their
residents were also screened upon leaving the New Villages to limit the supply of
materiel to the now jungle-bound rebels. The countermeasures adopted by the MRLA
inevitably carried a greater risk of exposure to the British security forces.

Under Briggs, the British counterinsurgency campaign was made more coherent.
Interagency War Executive Councils were established in each state and district, enabling
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smoother interaction between the civil administration, the police and the Army. Decision-
making was pushed down this network so as to adapt general policy to local
circumstances and achieve a level of decision-making autonomy at the district level.
Briggs also set up a Federal Joint Intelligence Advisory Committee, which coordinated
the collection, analysis, and distribution of intelligence on MRLA locations, activities,
and plans.

Militarily, more emphasis was put on small-unit operations. Closer coordination with
Special Branch provided these units with increasingly accurate and timely information on
rebel whereabouts, which enabled the setting up of effective ambushes and attacks.
Whilst in operation, the small-unit patrols were more discrete and could therefore
surprise and outfox the guerrillas. Furthermore, the network of interagency committees
ensured the wider coherence of these operations within the larger politico-military
strategy; the aim was not always to achieve higher Kill-ratios but to identify the enemy’s
support network, infiltrate his communications and acquire more actionable or useful
intelligence on the nodes holding the movement together.

On 7 October 1951, the MRLA ambushed and assassinated the British High
Commissioner, Sir Henry Gurney. In 1952, Lieutenant General Sir Gerald Templer
succeeded Gurney and, as both High Commissioner and Director of Operations, was able
to consolidate on Briggs’ achievements. Templer also emphasised that the British forces
were fighting for Malayan independence and pledged to withdraw as soon as the
insurgency had been defeated. To that end, he increased the participation of local Malay
leaders in the war effort and gave ethnic-Chinese nationals the right to vote. These
policies were deliberately publicised and shifted the image of the counterinsurgency from
one of colonial-era repression to a struggle for independence. From here on, the
perceived legitimacy of the counterinsurgency forces resulted in greater cooperation with
the population and the gradual marginalisation of the MRLA.

Following Templer’s arrival in Malaya, the Emergency became increasingly dominated
by the acquisition and exploitation of information and intelligence. Templer reformed the
Special Branch and made it the lead agency for intelligence-gathering, analysis and
dissemination. Because the New Villages had been organised so as to give the squatters
‘something to lose’, Templer’s ‘hears and minds’ campaign provided the squatters with
every incentive to cooperate with the government forces, resulting in a steady flow of
intelligence on MRLA whereabouts and activities. Templer also placed great emphasis on
turning rebel cadres over with rewards and using them as sources of valuable intelligence.
The benefits of this setup were cumulative and self-reinforcing: better intelligence
yielded better operations, which in turn resulted in better security, thus generating fresh
sources of support and information. Using surrendered enemy personnel (SEP) and
turned MRLA suppliers to penetrate the guerrillas’ communications network proved
particularly effective: not only did it allow for targeted ambushes but it also threw the
rebels off-balance and disrupted their activities and standard procedures.

As Templer’s inspired leadership bore fruits, the British counterinsurgency was further
helped by the side-effects of the Korean War, which had a hugely positive effect on the
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Malayan economy, and by the introduction of new military equipment and technology.
Most important was the greater availability of aircraft and helicopters, which were used
mostly for mobility, air supply, surveillance and medical evacuation rather than air
strikes, which were often ineffective.

Operationally, Templer institutionalised the small-unit approach. With a distinct
commitment to operational analysis and a willingness to learn from the units most
experienced in jungle warfare, Templer helped disseminate the best practices through the
publication of a campaign-specific field manual. Increasingly, the Commonwealth forces
were learning how to out-guerrilla the guerrillas.

Conclusion of emergency

By deploying a higher concentration of troops to the areas most affected by violence,
Malaya’s various districts were gradually cleared of rebel cadres. ‘Swarming’ one area
allowed the forces to monitor the population, survey any infiltration by the MRLA or
collaboration with the rebels, acquire intelligence through agents and deserters, and
gradually target rebel locations and activities. With a combination of psychological
operations, the effective exploitation of SEP and the carefully calibrated use of force, the
British security forces soon gained control of the area. In this way, Malaya’s most
troubled districts were soon declared safe, and the resources and men were redeployed
elsewhere, leaving a reinforced security framework behind to guarantee security.

Underlying these military victories lay a sophisticated political strategy of ethnic
reconciliation. From the early 1950s onwards, the Malayan sultans were pressed to accept
the enfranchisement of the ethnic-Chinese population as the unavoidable cost of political
stability. Meanwhile, representatives of the country’s three main ethnic communities
were brought together and urged to negotiate a joint vision for a future, independent
Malaya. These processes resulted in regular elections that, while mostly symbolic, led the
way to Malayan independence and to the simultaneous marginalisation of the MRLA.

As the rebel organisation was compromised, the government offered generous terms for
their surrender, including an amnesty and an opportunity at social and political
reintegration. Those who would not accept these terms were either detained or deported
to China. Eventually, the security situation in Malaya was sufficiently stable for Prime
Minister Tunku Abdul Rahman to declare Malayan independence on 31 August 1957. At
this point, the MRLA campaign lost its remaining momentum and raison d’étre. The last
serious engagement occurred in the Telok Anson marsh in 1958 and resulted in the large-
scale surrender of MRLA militants. The remainder — including Chin Peng — fled abroad.
On 31 July 1960, the Malayan government declared the Emergency over.

Chronology

1874 The British government finalises a series of treaties with local Malay
rulers.
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1896

1930
April

1940s

1946

1948

16 June

1948-1949

1949
6 September

1950

April

May

25 June

Formation of the Federated Malay States involving some, but not all
Malay states.

The Malayan Communist Party (MCP) comes into being and states
as its main objective the creation of a Soviet Republic of Malaya.

British forces support ‘Malayan People’s Anti-Japanese Army’ with
arms and supplies.

‘Malay Union’ proposed — boycotted by Malays as it enfranchised
the Chinese.

‘Federation of Malaya’ proposed — appreciated by Malays but
resented by Chinese, who are again disenfranchised.

Following a wave of violence, the murder of three European planters
finally prompts the British High Commission in Malaya to declare a
‘state of emergency’. The status change gives the government forces
greater powers and authority.

Home Guard, Village Guard and other security formations stood up
to free the military from static-defence duties.

British authorities form a Communities Liaison Committee to
provide an inter-ethnic forum for discussions and negotiations on the
future of Malaya.

Promulgation of surrender terms for MRLA militants. Henceforth,
increased focus on exploitation intelligence of surrendered enemy
personnel (SEP).

Lt-Gen. Harold Briggs appointed Director of Operations. Briggs
establishes ‘New Villages’ and interagency committees on the
federal, state and district level.

Malayan Committee formed in UK Cabinet.

Briggs creates the Federal Joint Intelligence Advisory Committee.
The Korean War breaks out and lasts until 27 July 1953. Though
some materiel is diverted from Malaya to Korea, the war boosts the

Malayan economy, contributing to a more effective hearts and minds
campaign.
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1951
October

7 October

21 October

27 November

1952
7 February

March

April

1 May

29 August

1953

Summer

The MRLA issues directive to desist from attacks on civilian targets
and to fragment into small units and disperse deep into the jungle. It
took some 12 months for the directive to be intercepted by British
troops.

The MRLA assassinates High Commissioner Sir Henry Gurney.

General election in Britain: Winston Churchill defeats Attlee’s
Labour government.

With his tour in Malaya over, Briggs leaves his post and the country.

Lt-Gen. Gerald Templer arrives in Malaya as High Commissioner &
Director of Operations. He initiates a “hearts & minds’ campaign to
gain support and intelligence from Chinese. Templer also
emphasises the goal of Malayan independence.

Municipal elections in Kuala Lumpur, involving both Malay and
Chinese parties. Having agreed not to field candidates against one
another, the United Malay National Organisation (UMNO) and the
Malay Chinese Association (MCA) win nine of 11 seats and together
form the Alliance Party. This multi-ethnic party was to play an
important role in the run-up to and years following Malayan
independence.

Reports cite the presence of MRLA base camps in Thai territory.

Following a decline in terrorist incidents, Templer issues a $250,000
reward for Chin Peng (if caught alive), $200,000 rewards for
members of the Politburo and $120,000 rewards to regional
committee secretaries. Being ‘caught alive’ could also mean
arranging the voluntary surrender of a known terrorist.

Meng Lee, the MRLA courier and communications director, is
arrested following a protracted Special Branch operation.

Troop-carrying helicopters are introduced to Malaya.
Political alliance formed by coalition of ethnic-Indian, Chinese and
Malay parties.

Formation of Special Operations Volunteer Force (SOVF), a fighting
unit consisting of SEP.

7 of 246



Part 11

14 September As a result of a breakthrough in the negotiations of the Communities
Liaison Committee on the issue of Malayan nationality, 60%
(1,200,000) of the Malayan Chinese are made Malayan citizens.

1954

30 May Templer leaves Malaya and is replaced as High Commissioner by his
former deputy, Donald MacGillivray, with Lt-Gen. Sir Geoffrey
Bourne assuming the post of Director of Operations.

1955

31 July The Alliance party, comprising Indian, Malay and Chinese
representation, wins a landslide victory in Malaya’s first general
election (turnout at 85%).

December Chin Peng, leader of MRLA, holds negotiations with British
government with a view to settle the conflict. Britain refuses certain
key demands and the talks collapse.

1957

31 August PM Tunku Abdul Rahman declares Malayan independence

1958 Last serious engagement occurs in the Telok Anson march, resulting
in large-scale surrender of MRLA militants

1960

31 July ‘Emergency’ declared over

Defence Lines of Development
Training

The training afforded to the British and Commonwealth forces in the early phase of the
Emergency was generally inadequate for the task at hand. Despite experiencing jungle
warfare as late as 1945, the British Army had lost much of its acquired expertise by the
time of the Malayan Emergency amid post-war demobilisation and the declaration of
Indian independence in 1947, which affected several of the Gurkha regiments. A Jungle
Warfare Training School established in Saugur in 1944-5 had by 1948 been shut. The
centre had offered three-week courses in jungle warfare geared towards company-based
operations and emphasising the importance of ‘jungle-craft’ and of good communications
(through wireless communications and the use of coloured smoke grenades to signal the
location of dropping zones to the overhead aircraft).

This institutional amnesia notwithstanding, the British forces were helped by those
individuals who had previously experience with jungle warfare." Retaining individual

! Interview with Lt lan Rae, by KCL, 16 November 2005
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(rather than institutional) awareness of the tactics, techniques and procedures (TTPs) best
suited to jungle warfare, these individuals accelerated the bottom-up relearning process
that marked the early years of the Emergency.

An important step in this learning process was the opening of a jungle-warfare training
centre in 1948. In July of that year, HQ Malaya District had authorised Lieutenant-
Colonel Walter Walker to form the “Ferret Force’ — an ad hoc unit composed of and led
by veterans of the Special Operations Executive unit that had operated in Malaya during
World War 11.2 This force also included Malayan guides and a number of Gurkha
volunteers with appropriate skills and experience. Operationally, Ferret Force proved to
be an overall success, presaging some of the best practices arrived at years later by the
conventional forces. The Training Centre was established so as to provide jungle-warfare
training to the future members of Ferret Force. Somewhat ironically, the training
anticipated through this school sealed the fate of Ferret Force, which increasingly came to
be seen as a prototype losing its uniqueness and, with it, its relevance. It was
subsequently disbanded.

The training centre, whose formal name was the Far-Eastern Land Forces (FARELF)
Training Centre (FTC), was established in Tampoi Barracks. The FTC’s mandate
included ‘studying, teaching and perfecting methods of jungle fighting [and to] raise the
standard of jungle warfare among the Armed Forces in FARELF’.2 The barracks could
accommodate two battalions at any one time and ‘several hundred students might be
trained during any one quarter’.* Operating with time constraints, Walker tapped the
existing experience in jungle warfare and codified it into curricula for two courses, one
for officers and the other for NCOs.

The FTC was predicated on the rapid and efficient dissemination of best practices. ‘When
a cadre’s level of training met Walker’s approval, it then returned to its battalion which
was then put through the same course the cadre had just passed’.” Much of the training
took place in the jungle, resulting in occasional encounters with enemy forces during
training patrols.

The achievements at FTC nonetheless took some time to produce results. In the
meantime, the Army’s traditional training militated against restraint, with several early
incidents of abuse, brutality and excesses in the use of force.® It was only really around
1951 that the training of the Commonwealth forces began reflecting the jungle experience
of the less senior ranks. Henceforth, the training emphasised long-term jungle immersion,
discretion, jungle-craft and small-unit operations. It was also around this time that Briggs
established a Jungle Warfare School at Kota Tinggi in Johore. This school was ‘to train
the advance parties of all units arriving in the theatre on a cadre basis, besides appraising

2 Raffi Gregorian, “’Jungle Bashing’ in Malaya: Toward a Formal Tactical Doctrine”, Small Wars and
Insurgencies, 5, 3, Winter 1994, p.346

® Public Records Office / War Office 268/1116 (1949), p.2

* Gregorian, p.347

*ibid. This section also includes a detailed break-down of the training courses.

® Richard Stubbs, Hearts and Minds in Guerrilla Warfare: The Malayan Emergency 1948-1960
(Singapore: Oxford University Press, 1989), pp.73-74
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weapons and equipment, and developing new tactics and operational methods’.” With
time, the remit of the FTC expanded and it began offering specialist courses in all aspects
of jungle warfare, including wireless communications, weapons evaluation etc.® Training
in skills applicable to the jungle environment subsequently became routine. The FTC
curricula and précis also came to be the foundation of subsequent jungle-warfare
doctrine.

Much like the military, the level of police training was also inadequate in the early phase
of the counterinsurgency campaign. New police recruits from Palestine and Europe were
‘put into service with only a minimal training in professional police work, no knowledge
of the Malay, Chinese, or Tamil languages or the customs of the country, and little
appreciation of the standard of work and conduct expected of them’.® With a High
Commissioner emphasising numbers rather than training, the untrained recruits tended
towards corruption and brutality, the latter arising out of a lack of knowledge,
understanding and an overriding sense of suspicion.”® The police training was at this
point the responsibility of mobile Army teams. With time, these were replaced with a
500-strong team of British police sergeants that had recently been demobilised from the
Palestinian police force. From then on, the quality and availability of training improved.

An important milestone in the evolution of police training was the establishment of an
Intelligence (Special Branch) Training School in 1952. The school was an initiative of Lt-
Gen. Sir Gerald Templer, who had always emphasised the importance of effective
intelligence. It provided specialist courses on intelligence-gathering for Special Branch
along with select personnel from the Army, police force and the civil service.'*

Equipment

At the outset of the Emergency, the available police and military equipment was largely
inadequate to face the threat at hand. The police force was lacking the required hardware:
radios were in short supply, available weaponry was often antiquated (or borrowed from
the Army) and there was a notable lack of armoured vehicles, a deficiency whose effects
were also felt by the Army.*? The arrival of the 4™ Hussars and their armoured cars at the
end of 1948 went some way to remedying this gap in capabilities. Nonetheless,
inadequate supplies marred the counterinsurgency effort well into the 1950s, forcing

" Donald Mackay, The Malayan emergency, 1948-60: the Domino that Stood (London: Brassey’s, 1997),
p.128

® Gregorian, p.347

° Stubbs, p.72

%In a note, dated 8 January 1949, from High Commissioner Sir H. Gurney to the Secretary of State for
Colonies, Mr A. Creech Jones, the High Commissioner explains that ‘basic [police] recruit training has
been reduced to a minimum in order to get the greatest number of men on duty as soon as possible. No
higher training is in fact taking place, nor is it possible to provide any at the present time’. Copy of note
available in A. J. Stockwell, ed., Malaya: Part Il: The Communist Insurrection, 1948-1953, British
Documents on the End of the Empire (London: HMSO, 1995a), pp.102-112

1 John Nagl, Counterinsurgency Lessons from Malaya and Vietnam: Learning to Eat Soup with a Knife
(Westport, CT: Praeger, 2002), pp.91-92

12 Mackay, p.36-7
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Templer to lobby his personal contacts in Whitehall and elsewhere for additional
shotguns, radios and armoured cars.*®

Network-related equipment included radios, telephones and wireless sets. The
effectiveness of the radios was limited in the jungle.** They were also heavy and it was
quite common for smaller patrols to forsake the radio altogether and prioritise food and
ammunition instead.’® Fixed assets, such as police stations, were linked by telephone,
which were installed at outlying posts to create a network of sorts. ‘From the start of the
emergency, the main police district headquarters had standing orders to telephone the
outlying posts every hour, and if there was no reply to act at once’.*® This system resulted
in quick communications in spite of lacking technology.

Much like the police and Army, the Royal Air Force (RAF) was initially beset by
equipment shortages. There is some discrepancy in the exact number of squadrons
available to the RAF at the onset of the Emergency. Whereas Donald Mackay claims that
the Air Officer Commanding could in 1948 deploy one squadron of Spitfires, a squadron
of Sunderland flying boats and a handful of Auster photo-reconnaissance aircraft and
Dakota transport planes,'” Robert Jackson offers a slightly higher estimate of 11
squadrons with just over 100 aircraft concentrated on Singapore Island.'® Jackson also
cites the presence of Tempests and a number of Beaufighters with the latter the preferred
choice for bombing operations (following a mishap with a Spitfire in mid-1948 in which
faulty wiring resulted in the accidental release of a bomb).*

With time, the number and types of aircrafts available increased. In March-April 1950,
eight Avro Lincoln bombers and eight Brigands were deployed to RAF Tengah in
Singapore. Jackson explains that the Lincolns were ‘well-suited to the medium-bomber
role in Malaya’ and that it could ‘deliver seventy 1,000 Ib. bombs in the Federation of
Malaya by day or by night’.?> A further six Lincolns were deployed in June 1950.
According to Jackson, ‘in mid-1950, the air-strike force had a strength of sixteen
Spitfires, sixteen Tempests, sixteen Brigands, fourteen Lincolns and ten Sunderlands’.?!
These aircraft were updated, replaced and rearmed during the remainder of the

Emergency. In tandem, the navigation systems were also upgraded: initially, ‘navigation

% ibid., p.128

4 Dennis Edwin Ryan, British private served with D Coy, 1st Bn Suffolk Regt in Malaya, 1950-1952,
Imperial War Museum Sounds Archive, Accession No. 18006 (5 May 1998)
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18 Richard L. Clutterbuck, The Long Long War: The Emergency in Malaya 1948-1960 (London: Cassell,
1967), p.49
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was mostly [done] by dead-reckoning and by map-reading... later we did have a radio

transmitter homer, which was of some value to the smaller aircraft’.??

The RAF was to provide a valuable contribution to the Emergency in terms of
surveillance, recce and psychological operations (PSYOPS). Most importantly, perhaps,
the RAF provided air supply and thereby allowed Army patrols to remain in the deep
jungle for weeks on end. Such long stays helped penetrate the most secluded guerrilla
hide-outs and increased the Army’s physical and cognitive ‘reach’. Air-ground
cooperation was further refined with the deployment of Short Take-Off and Landing
(STOL) Lancer aircraft, which were used in the later stages of the Emergency to supply
the troops’ jungle forts. The RAF also conducted offensive raids, but despite devising
rudimentary means of ensuring missile precision, such raids would most often be of
limited utility; the rebels were alerted to the sound of an incoming plane and the bombs
would often miss their designated target. Bombing was instead more effective in harrying
rebels out of a certain area of jungle and into the arms of an awaiting Army patrol.

May 1951 saw the formation of a flight of three Dragonflies, a recently developed
helicopter that had been earmarked for the Royal Navy. Though the introduction of
Dragonflies enabled the evacuation of casualties from deep jungle and a number of other
operations, this helicopter experienced several setbacks in Malaya.”® Some of these were
overcome with training and better instructions on coordination between the air and the
ground. Others, primarily the helicopter’s limited potential for troop movement, were
only solved when the United States were persuaded to supply Sikorsky S-55s, which
begun operations in early 1953. These troop-carrying helicopters greatly boosted the
armed forces’ speed and tactical mobility, important attributes in a conflict centred on
remote places and marked by inaccessible jungle. They also enabled the Special Air
Service (SAS) to play its vital role in the counterinsurgency campaign (see 2.1.B.3.).2

All helicopters were initially stationed in Singapore and later moved to Kuala Lumpur.
As Colonel Sutcliffe explains, ‘many flying hours were lost by having all the helicopters
centrally located. Every task required hours of positioning time. It would have been
preferable to disperse the helicopters... there were never enough [helicopters], so it

wasn’t possible’.

Personnel

At the onset of the Emergency, the police force in Malaya numbered 10,000. The force
had suffered during the Japanese invasion and was lacking both equipment and training.
It was also a force beset by pervasive poor health and low morale, split as it was between

22 Air Commodore P.E. Warcup, CBE, as cited in A. H. Peterson, G. C. Reinhardt & E. E Conger, eds.,
Symposium on the Role of Airpower in Counterinsurgency and Unconventional Warfare: The Malayan
Emergency (Santa Monica, CA: The RAND Corporation, 1963), p.25

%% See Mackay (1997), p.137

2 Douglas Johnson-Charlton, British selection and training officer with 22™ Special Air Service in Malaya,
1951-52, Imperial War Museum Sound Archive, Accession No. 18006 (12 April 1995)

% |nterview with Lt-Col M. W. Sutcliffe, British Army, as cited in Peterson, Reinhardt & Conger, p.40
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those who continued to serve during the Japanese occupation in WW?2 and those who had
simply melted away or endured those difficult years in prison camps.?® During these early
years, the police force would frequently surrender rather than resist.” The issue of morale
would require a long-term solution, but in the meantime, it was important to boost the
size of the force. To this end, a detachment of several hundred policemen was swiftly
transferred from Palestine, with Colonel W. Nicol Gray, the former inspector-general of
the Palestinian Police, appointed commissioner for the Malay Federation Police. An
unfortunate side-effect of this redeployment was the rivalry and antagonism that
developed between the already-split Malayan police force and the newly arrived
reinforcements from Palestine. These splits were not fully addressed until 1952.

Jackson illustrates the gradual increase in police forces: ‘by the beginning of 1949 the
number of Regular Police had risen to 12,767; a year later it was 16,220; in 1951 it
reached 16,814; in 1952 it rose to 22,187; and in the following year it reached a peak of
36,737°.%8 By March 1953, the total strength of the police force, regulars and specials
included, stood at 71,500.% Though this rapid influx of police — from Palestine, India,
Europe and Hong Kong — did bolster the security presence in Malaya, the newly arrived
officers were often untrained and naturally ignorant about the local situation and mission.
This unfamiliarity notwithstanding, the police was by 1951 able to assume many of the
security and static-defence roles that had initially been forced onto the Army.*® At the
peak of the insurgency, the police was also involved in a significant number of ambushes
and patrols, though participation in these engagements waned with the insurgency.

The rapid growth of the police had brought a number of benefits. By 1952, however, the
police had become ‘too big and unwieldy ... it lacked any sense of direction, had no clear
idea whether it ought to be a paramilitary gendarmerie or a traditional colonial Police
force concerned to maintain law and order (or both), it was poorly led and trained and in
consequence suffered... from low self-esteem and morale’.*" In 1952, measures were put
in place to split the force into one paramilitary branch and one traditional police branch —
the former would augment military units in operations in villages and on the fringe of the
jungle, the latter conduct regular police tasks.*> The same year, a Police Training College
was opened.*®

Much like the regular police, Special Branch — responsible for intelligence-gathering and
dissemination — was also in a bad state in 1947-48. Following some restructuring in

% Conversation with Lt lan Rae, 25 April 2006

" Mackay, p.39

%8 Jackson, p.17

2 This figure was reduced by 23,000 by the end of 1954. See correspondence from High Commissioner
Donald MacGillivray to Secretary of State for Colonies, dated January 1955, in A. J. Stockwell, Malaya:
Part 111: The Alliance Route to Independence, 1953-1957, British Documents on the End of the Empire
(London: HMSO, 1995b) p.86

% R. W. Komer, The Malayan Emergency in Retrospect: Organization of a Successful Counterinsurgency
Effort, R-957-ARPA (Santa Monica, CA: Rand, 1972) p.39
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%2 For more detail on this measure, see Mackay, p.131

% Komer, p.49
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previous years, the Malayan Special Branch was re-established under the Deputy
Commissioner of Police in August 1948.3* During this early phase of the Emergency, the
military relied mostly on its own intelligence, which — given the Army’s lack of
familiarity with police work — was not always suitable for the task at hand.

According to R. W. Komer, a total of 30,000 troops were stationed in Malaya and
Singapore in March 1948. Only 11,500 of these were in Malaya itself and only 5,784
were combat troops.*® There were a total of ten battalions in Malaya in June 1948: six
Gurkha battalions, the 1% and 2" Battalions of the Malay Regiment and two British
battalions (the 2" King’s Own Yorkshire Light Infantry (KOYLI) and the 1%
Seaforths).*® All of these battalions remained under-strength for some time. Moreover,
many Gurkha battalions had been lost to the Indian Army following the declaration of
Indian independence in 1947.%” Support staff tended to equate to approximately half of a
700-strong infantry battalion, meaning that the insurgents and security forces were evenly
matched in actual fighting forces.*® This problem was compounded by the initial lack of a
Home Guard, forcing many troops onto static-defence duties.

The British forces were reinforced by regular deployments during the initial few years of
the Emergency. The 2" Guards Brigade, composed of the 3" Grenadier Guards, the 2™
Coldstream Guards and the 2™ Scots Guards, arrived in August 1948. The 1% Battalion
the Queen’s Royal Regiment (West Surrey), the 1% Battalion the Royal Lincolnshire
Regiment, the 1% Battalion the Devonshire Regiment, and the 1% Battalion the Suffolk
Regiment followed.*® This increased the number of battalions from ten in 1948 to 15 in
1949 and to a peak of 23 in 1953, corresponding to a personnel increase from 10,000 in
1948 to a maximum of 30,000, half of whom were ‘non-operational’.*° The battalions
were augmented by a number of supporting units: in early 1949, these amounted to ‘two
armoured car regiments, each containing up to six squadrons, one or two field batteries
and one field regiment of artillery, two field engineer regiments, one Commando brigade,
three squadrons of the 22" Special Air Service Regiment and an Independent Squadron
of the Parachute Regiment. Also operating in the infantry role was the Royal Air Force

Regiment (Malaya), a locally-recruited force which fielded five rifle squadrons’.**

By the early 1950s, each British battalion was composed of four rifle and one support
company, representing a total of approximately 800 men.*? Nonetheless, a force retained
a large administrative tail: ‘in bayonet strength... the forces on each side never differed

* ibid., p.42

% ibid., p.11, 46

% Mackay, p.36. Nagl breaks the ten battalions into ‘two British, five Gurkha, and three Malay’, p.65.
Komer cites 11 battalions, adding a British one to the above ten, p.46.

% See Mackay, p.159 fn2.

% Nagl, p.65
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“% ibid. Stubbs notes that in early 1952, 22,000 of the 30,000 troops were combat troops, p.159. Komer has
a ratio of 28,000:22,000 for March 1952 (excluding Singapore), p.20.

# Jackson, p.19

“2 Komer traces the number of British battalions in Malaya throughout the Emergency, p.47.
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by any significant amount until the insurrection collapsed in 1957/8°.** Moreover, many
of the battalions remained severely under-strength. One major difficulty in sustaining
troop levels related to the rotational scheme in place to ensure that no individual soldier
serve more than three consecutive years overseas (this applied to the British regiments,
not to the Gurkhas). This schemed, termed ‘Python’, resulted in many battalions
remaining at two-thirds of their full strength, with the most experienced troops missing
due to rotation.**

In these circumstances, the battalions found some relief through the National Service
(conscription). Such tours were however limited to 18 months, which, when accounting
for transport and training, translated to a mere 12 months in operation, a short time to
familiarise oneself with the campaign. The situation was partially remedied with the
extension of the National Service commitment to two years in 1950.*

The National Servicemen brought doctors, surveyors and other types of specialists to the
Malayan theatre, but their military training remained vital. Lack of such preparation had
in the early years of the Emergency resulted in alleged massacres and the abuse of power.
This problem was gradually addressed as FTC training was made more readily available.
By 1952, the image of the National Servicemen had improved considerably. By that time,
‘many of the British Army battalions serving in Malaya... were virtually National
Service battalions. The majority of subalterns were National Service officers, and in some
battalions 90 per cent of lance-corporals and 50 per cent of corporals were National
Servicemen. About 60 per cent of the private soldiers were conscripts’.*

As seen, the Army had lost much of its jungle-warfare experience through the rapid
demobilisation of the Far Eastern Forces following WW?2. Individual members of certain
regiments did retain personal experience and familiarity with jungle warfare, but — most
commonly — the approach was driven by ‘the dominance of the Western European
experience in the careers of most regular soldiers’, resulting in ‘a “conventional” attitude
to the war’ in Malaya.”” This deficiency had wide-ranging ramifications. Trained for
conventional warfare, the soldiers initially placed great faith in large-scale sweeps of the
jungle, even though ‘the major effect of these mass movements of troops was to telegraph
their advance so that the guerrillas were alerted well before the troops arrived’.*® At this
point, however, there was little or no experience of how to conduct small-unit operations
in the jungle, how to collect intelligence on guerrillas or how to conduct psychological
operations.* Intelligence-gathering was further complicated by the general lack of
Chinese representation in either the police force or the military.

** Mackay, p.150

* This section drawn on Mackay, pp.93-94

** Yet as William Stothard Tee, chief instructor at the Jungle Warfare School from 1948-1951, explains,
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As seen, a notable exception to these trends was the Ferret Force of Lt-Col Walter
Walker, formed in 1948. This force was predicated on experiences from the WW2 jungle
campaigns, both in Burma and in support of the MPAJA in Malaya. As described by Tom
Pocock, the Ferret Force would value local information and full immersion with the local
environment. It would typically be ‘led by a British volunteer with local knowledge,
would consist of four teams, each consisting of a British officer, twelve volunteers from
British, Gurkha or the Malay Regiment, a detachment of the Royal Signals, Dyak trackers
and a Chinese liaison officer’.>® This force was subsequently disbanded (see 2.1.B.1), but
it did provide the groundwork for successful innovations to come.

One such innovation was the formation of Special Air Service (SAS) teams, following
their official disbandment shortly following WW2. With his experience of jungle warfare
in WW2, Brigadier Michael Calvert was put in charge of assembling a special-forces
team that could take the lead against the MRLA. In 1950, the Malayan Scouts were stood
up as an elite jungle-fighting unit able to penetrate and conduct sustained patrols in deep
jungle. The initial batch of recruits were for the most ‘canteen cowboys, drunkards and
lay-abouts’ — ‘volunteers’ that the other units in the Far East wanted rid of.>* The early
incarnation of this special force was accordingly disappointing: it was only when Calvert
started recruiting from units back in Britain that the Malayan Scouts achieved notable
results. The SAS were also aided by the arrival of troop-carrying helicopters in 1953.
Until then, the Scouts dropped into the deep jungle from airplanes, a risky practice known
as ‘tree-topping’: ‘you drop from the aircraft with a hundred foot of rope wrapped around
your waist. To land, you’d pick the nearest bushy-top tree and crashed into it... the

casualty rate was quite fantastic’.”

With the help of helicopters, the Malayan Scouts provided a valuable contribution to the
counterinsurgency campaign. Their special training and spirit allowed for prolonged stays
in the jungle, enabling deeper immersion, greater familiarity and a more effective pursuit
of MRLA cadres in areas beyond the reach of conventional Army and police units. The
SAS was also able to construct jungle forts in inaccessible areas, thus establishing ties
with the aborigine tribal populations that had been pressured to provide support and
assistance to the then jungle-bound insurgents.

Supporting the police and Army during the Emergency was a series of civil defence and
constabulary forces stood up during the first few months of the Emergency. From the
outset, Field Marshal Montgomery had stressed that increasing the number of British
troops and policemen would not be an adequate long-term solution to the security threat
in Malaya. Instead, he proposed the establishment of a Home Guard. Approximately
24,000 Malays were enrolled in various constabulary units during the first three months

% Tom Pocock (1973), Fighting General: The Public and Private Campaigns of General Sir Walter Walker
(London: Collins) p.87

51 Douglas Johnson-Charlton, British selection and training officer with 22™ Special Air Service in Malaya,
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of the Emergency, which helped free the military from village defence, traffic control and
other such duties. The guards were recruited from self-defence forces stood up by tin
miners and rubber planters in 1947-48 to protect themselves from rebel attacks. It is
difficult to arrive at a clear picture of the strength of the constabulary forces — not only
are the names of the different units used interchangeably, but the available estimates of
troop numbers often differ substantially. By most estimates, however, the British forces
had by 1953 stood up a combined total of close to 250,000 men. The force was boosted
by the introduction of ethnic-Chinese guardsmen in 1951 — this measure had positive
security and political implications.

Despite their varied performance, the establishment of the local protection forces was
essential for the prosecution of the eventual counterinsurgency campaign. As Director of
Operations, Briggs wanted to see the police do police work in the villages and on the
fringe of the jungle, and the Army penetrate the jungle itself to hit the guerrillas in their
own territory. This division of labour was however unrealisable so long as deficient
police numbers forced many police tasks onto the military. When Briggs was deployed to
Malaya, the Army was still “‘doing cordon and search work in the squatter kongsis and
New Villages, implementing food denial programmes, and, in particular, patrolling and
ambushing the jungle edge in the hope of killing CTs [communist terrorists] as they
moved between their jungle bases and supply sources’.>* Meanwhile the morale and
motivation of the Home Guard was plummeting: having expanded too quickly and
insufficiently armed, its effectiveness was often suboptimal. To remedy this problem,
Templer decided in 1952 to equip the Home Guard with shotguns, a leap of faith
considering the large number of ethnic-Chinese thus armed.>*

As personnel issues were addressed during the early years of the Emergency, so was the
chain-of-command linking these forces. The chain-of-command had initially been
muddled and overly complex, resulting in confusion and inactivity. Rather than
answerable to the Acting High Commissioner, the Army was under the command of
FARELF in Singapore, which was itself preoccupied by external regional threats rather
than the troubles in Malaya. Similarly, the RAF had an exclusive chain-of-command,
which hampered cooperation with the Army. Adding to these problems was the poor state
of the various services. The Army was for example highly disgruntled to have to
subordinate itself to the civil powers, as this effectively meant that the initially inefficient
and badly organised police force was running the show.

The chain-of-command was subsequently streamlined. When Harold Briggs was
appointed Director of Operations in 1950, he established a network of interagency
committees at state, federal and district levels. This forced the various services to meet
daily, coordinate their plans and operate in unison. The value of such interagency
coordination was tied to the gradual improvement in the standard of the various
departments. When appointed High Commissioner in 1952, Gerald Templer demanded
control over both the political and the military dimensions of the Emergency. Thus made

>3 Mackay, p.102
> Stubbs, p.158. Stubbs also outlines other measures implemented by Templer to restructure the Home
Guard, many of which had very promising effects on the overall security situation.
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a ’supremo’ with unprecedented powers, Templer was able to streamline and systematise
the coordination of civil-military affairs.

The initial counterinsurgency effort in Malaya was also plagued by poor and/or
unprepared leadership. A week following the declaration of an Emergency, the High
Commissioner, Sir Edward Gent, was effectively relieved of his duties and not replaced
for three months. Throughout his tenure, Gent had been accused of being overly cautious
in seeking to prevent an escalation in hostilities. Following his departure, the
administration was left in the hands of acting officials with limited power, ability and
motivation.>

General Officer Commanding (GOC) Malaya, General Boucher, had only been in his
post for a number of days when the Emergency was declared. Boucher’s experience was
also confined to warfare in Europe, ‘a characteristic he shared with nearly all his senior
commanders, and one which would condition tactics and plans for many months to
come’.*® Furthermore, his experience against Greek guerrillas prompted unwarranted
overconfidence and a misappraisal of the situation at hand.

Matters were hardly better on the side of the police force. H. B Langworthy, the
Commissioner of Police in 1948, resigned within days of the declaration of the
Emergency. His successor, Colonel W. Nicol Gray, had been brought over from Palestine
and had little knowledge of Malaya. Furthermore, Gray was widely criticised for his
obstinacy, which led to a number of quarrels and ultimate stalemate in the police and
Army’s attempts at coordination.”” Sir William Jenkins was appointed in May 1950 as an
adviser in the reorganisation of the Criminal Investigation Division (CID) and Special
Branch. Despite improvements in the flows of information to both the Army and police
forces, Gray had within short fallen out with Jenkins and the subsequent antagonism
undermined the progress underway.’®

The most successful leaders in the Malaya Emergency tended to have prior knowledge
and familiarity with jungle operations. Harold Briggs had experienced jungle warfare in
Asia during the WW2, Lt-Col Walker, the organiser of Ferret Force, was a Burma
veteran, as was Brig. Calvert, who reformed the SAS for deep-jungle operations. Finally,
Major F. E. Kitson, a champion in the handling of surrendered enemy personnel (SEP),
had previous experience in Kenya where he had ‘formed surrendered Mau-Mau into
“pseudogangs” whom he accompanied... into the villages to terrify them into telling all
they knew of other Mau-Mau gangs’.>®

Though the appointment of Templer in 1952 was to prove highly rewarding, he was not a
first-choice selection.?® Nonetheless, Templer did bring a wealth of experience, as he had
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prior to WW2 served as a major and commanded ‘A’ Company of the Loyals in
Palestine. Templer was also well versed in civil administration and business: in the
aftermath of WW2, he had been the Military Governor of the British Zone in Germany
and, as Vice-Chief of the Imperial General Staff, he had familiarised himself with the
workings of government and bureaucracy.®

Information

In 1786, Penang became the first Malay state to come under British control (through the
British East India Company). In the decades and centuries that followed, more Malay
states fell under British control and, by the early 20" century, British officials were
effectively running Malaya’s various state governments, civil services, public
departments and utilities. This relationship resulted in a familiarity with the ‘area of
operations’ that was to assist the British forces in the eventual Emergency. Furthermore,
Britain had its imperial history to learn from: ‘long years of experience in India, with its
communal disorders and nationalistic flare-ups, had created a body of law, precedent, and
practice that determined the initial responses of civil administrators, police, and soldiers
anywhere within the Commonwealth’.®? This type of practice had engrained within the
British government the principle that the military should act in support of the civil powers
and that martial law was only to be imposed as a last resort.

Despite this experience and advantages, the early years of the Malayan Emergency were
marked by an overriding misunderstanding of the nature of the mission. Many within the
British authorities assumed that the brewing instability was the result of mere banditry
and crime and that it would therefore be short-lived.?®> Advice or intelligence reports
suggesting a more organised and politically-motivated rebellion were dismissed.** The
government spent the early years of the insurgency referring to the insurgents as
‘bandits’, ‘criminals’ or ‘bad hats’, a practice that ‘appeared not only to deny that the
communists could be politically motivated but also to ignore the fact that the MCP had
widespread support within certain sections of the population’.®® This approach also gave
the intelligence services a very narrow remit, concerning itself with crime rather than
political subversion: ‘little was done to assess the political, social, and economic
conditions upon which these groups fed. As a consequence, the information passed on to
the Government ... was too often ambiguous and misleading’.®®
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As a result, the direction emanating from the Colonial Office focused initially on
‘restoring law and order’ with no specific mention of what had caused the instability to
begin with.®” A Malayan Committee within the Cabinet was only formed in April 1950
and it was only following the subsequent visit to Malaya by Secretary of State for War
John Strachey in June 1950 that one could ‘read into the Committee’s minutes a note of
real apprehension that things might take a long time to get right and that there might be

hard times still to come’.%®

There had been other faulty assumptions at play. It was, for example, assumed that the
Malay police would understand the culture and mindset of the ethnic-Chinese insurgents
and sympathisers. There was also an implicit assumption that the crisis would unfold in a
predictable manner without challenging the pattern established in previous, nominally
similar contingencies. Neither of these assumptions was correct.®® Indeed, the British
policy of subordinating its military to the civilian powers was compromised by the stark
ethnic animosity separating the Malays and the ethnic-Chinese. There was no real
guarantee that the predominantly Malay police force would adopt the most optimal
approach to deal with the ethnic-Chinese insurgents and supporters.”® This points to the
need to adapt even seemingly functional templates to the specificities and local
complexities of each campaign.

The lack of understanding manifested itself in various ways during the early years of the
insurgency. For one, the government failed to understand the predicament of the civilian
Chinese population of Malaya.”* Inadequately protected by the government forces, the
squatters were at the same time expected to cooperate in rooting out the guerrillas. For
purely pragmatic reasons, if nothing else, paying protection money to the MRLA often
appeared to be a more attractive option. Such behaviour would automatically be
interpreted as complicitous by the British security forces and punished. Within the first
year of the insurgency, 15,000 people had been detained or banished, including 10,000
who were sent to China.”® This policy of ‘coercion and enforcement’ was deliberate — it
was perceived as a means of inciting fear in the Chinese and deterring them from joining
the insurgents. Ultimately, however, such an approach alienated the Chinese population
and, left unprotected, they therefore tended to cooperate with the guerrillas who at least
offered a modicum of security.”

The intelligence available to the British forces improved in synch with the police force,
the security situation in the ‘New Villages’ and the organisational coherence of the
counterinsurgency structure. On this latter point, the restructuring of Special Branch

%7 Mackay, p.37

% ibid., pp.94-95

% Sunderland (1964b), pp.20-21

ibid., p.21

™ The distance between the ethnic-Chinese community and the British authorities is repeatedly raised in
official correspondence between senior British officials in London, Malaya, Singapore throughout 1948.
See Stockwell (1995a)

2 Arthur Hugh Peters Humphrey, British Secretary for Defence and Internal Security in Federation of
Malaya, 1953-1957, Imperial War Museum Sounds Archive, Accession No. 14960 (13 February 1995)

"3 Stubbs, pp.74-76
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under Templer was catalytic in enabling a smooth-running network of information, with
Special Branch acting as the lead agency. Intrinsic to this structure was the representation
of military advisors at Special Branch, who could relay the intelligence in the manner
most appropriate and useful to the military. Good intelligence resulted in a greater
awareness of the political context of the counterinsurgency, which in turn led to measures
geared toward co-opting the civilian populace through a hearts and minds campaign. In
turn, this yielded greater intelligence.

Doctrine and Concepts

In the history of the British military, the passing-down of doctrine and concepts relating
to counterinsurgency has often been informal. The institution can be said to have
benefited from a tacit memory or knowledge, transmitted by individuals rather than
through written documentation.”* As such, there was no formal counterinsurgency
doctrine available to British security forces in 1948. Indeed, the only relevant doctrine
was that formulated during the jungle operations against the Japanese forces in WW?2. In
July 1943, the Infantry Company, India, had made several recommendations to improve
the readiness of British and Indian infantry battalions, particularly for jungle warfare.”
The recommendations resulted in the issuing of several Military Training Protocols
(MTPs) in 1944-45. MTP No.51, Preparation for Warfare in the Far East and MTP
No.52, Warfare in the Far East, stood out as offering appropriate advice and guidance on
the particular conditions of jungle fighting and constituted the nearest thing to written
doctrine for the troubles in Malaya.

Yet, as seen, the British Army lost much of its acquired expertise by the time of the
Malayan Emergency. The two main factors behind this development were the post-war
demobilisation of the units involved in jungle warfare and the declaration of Indian
independence in 1947, which resulted in the loss of several Gurkha regiments. As a
result, the dominant Army doctrine at the onset of the Emergency was inappropriate for
the task at hand. ‘The British Army was geared to fight a nuclear, or conventional, war in
Europe and all the thinking at the Staff College and the School of Infantry was in that
direction’.”® The predilection for conventional war led to a period of squaring circles,
where the British forces sought to apply its preferred approach against an unconventional
adversary and in a highly unconventional setting, involving not only large swathes of
jungle but a civilian population that required careful attention lest they be pushed towards
embracing the insurgency movement. In several statements dating from the late 1940s,
Gen. Boucher, GOC Malaya, revealed his faith in large-scale sweeps intended to clear
entire areas of rebels. These sweeps yielded limited returns in the early phase of the
insurgency when the rebels were still operating in large units. However, as the MRLA
dispersed, the mass and unwieldiness of the sweeps made it virtually impossible to catch
the guerrillas by surprise. The British forces therefore found it difficult to ascertain
whether their adversaries had disappeared or simply melted away to return at a later date.

™ Gregorian, p.339.
" ibid., p.341
"® Pocock, p.89
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As the Emergency evolved, the British military gradually recovered its jungle-fighting
skills. By force, the military adapted, breaking into smaller units that were more mobile
and capable of autonomous decision-making. This adaptation was at first informal and
helped by key individuals’ personal recollection from previous jungle-based campaigns.”’
It also mirrored the best practices laid out by the Ferret Force — another initiative based
on and geared toward the specific conditions of jungle warfare.” This ad hoc learning
process was later institutionalised by Briggs and then by Templer, but remained contested
by sections of the military brass well into the late 1950s.” Given the gradual and patchy
nature of the learning-curve, it is debatable whether one can at this point speak of a
monolithic or all-encompassing ‘British approach’ to low-intensity operations.®

In an effort to crystallise the lessons learnt, Templer mandated the publication of an
Emergency-specific field manual, based on the bottom-up learning process of the units
involved in jungle warfare. The manual was sized to fit a soldier’s pocket and updated
every six months as needed. Significantly, no formal field manual or doctrine was
published as a result of the Malaya experience.

In contrast to the initial lack of counterinsurgency doctrine, the British military did have a
conceptual understanding of the task at hand. As seen, experience in India and other
colonies had culminated in the principle that the military be subordinated to the civilian
powers during periods of civil disorder. This setup was implemented in Malaya from the
start, but faced unpredicted setbacks due to the particular difficulties in coordinating
police and military activity. Nonetheless, it did result in police authority over military
operations, which had to be cleared by police before going ahead. This procedure was
intended to ensure a coherent response and to minimise collateral damage. The
Commonwealth troops were also explicitly warned about the destruction of valuable
rubber plants and other civilian property.

Organisation

With the onset of the Emergency, the British authorities quickly established new
organisations and procedures to manage the unfolding situation. Importantly, these
measures were reactive, the pre-existing instruments having proved to be inadequate.
Quick and imaginative adaptation was therefore required to gain the initiative.

The police had been responsible for security and intelligence in pre-Emergency Malaya.
For the collection of intelligence, the police relied on the Special Branch, established in
1919. Due to restructuring and other factors, Special Branch was not prepared to carry

7 See Interview with Lt Rae

® Mackay, pp.44-45

" ibid., p.72; Clutterbuck (1967), p.51

8 With regards to Malaya, such an argument would also have to account for the disparities between
methods (gradually) adopted in Malaya and those employed in the simultaneous counterinsurgency effort
against the Mau-Mau in Kenya.
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out the intelligence work necessary to combat the insurgency. The service had been split
during the short-lived Malayan Union into a Criminal Investigation Division (CID) and a
political-intelligence arm. In August 1948, these two functions were merged to aid
coordination between criminal and political intelligence. Yet, in 1952, Templer decided
to once again separate the two branches so as to bestow Special Branch with a greater
degree of autonomy.®* Whatever the merits of previous arrangements, it was this last
restructuring that saw Special Branch evolve as a truly competent, agile and imaginative
intelligence service.

Prior to the Emergency, the police managed all security issues but was authorised to call
upon the Army should it encounter uncontrollable or major unrest. Even during these
early years, the Army FARELF HQ emphasised closer links between the Army and the
police. On 30 June, a mere 13 days following the declaration of the Emergency, a series
of joint committees were established, comprising police, military and civilian
representatives. By August, each state had its own interagency intelligence commission.
These committees did facilitate the exchange of information, but the substandard state of
the various services impeded coordinated action. Indeed, the committees were not
rendered truly effective until 1950, when Briggs established a network of interagency
councils stretching from the federal, state to district level. ‘Each committee was
composed of the chief military, police, and government representative of the region, with
the senior civilian as chairman, and was empowered to direct the counterinsurgent effort
in its area of jurisdiction by giving orders to police, military, and civil organizations
within those boundaries’.®?

Because the British government was unprepared for the insurrection, there were no
organisations or networks in place to deal with the mounting violence. Even when the
seriousness of the situation had been grasped, the Colonial Office sought to postpone any
decision-making until the formation of the Malayan Committee in the Cabinet in April
1950. When finally formed, this committee represented the various military services, the
War Office and various other governmental departments.®®

Despite this lack of direction, the British authorities in Malaya quickly implemented
reactive measures to respond to the insurgency. On the day following the declaration of
Emergency, the Printing Presses Bill restricted the publication of newspapers to license-
holders in an attempt to control the flow of information in the country. ‘Emergency
Regulations” and various Acts and Bill were subsequently announced, authorising the
police to implement collective detention and punishment (Regulation 17D), deport
unidentifiable detainees and impose the death penalty for the carrying of firearms. These
measures all targeted the Chinese community.*

The British authorities in Malaya also stood up a number of guard units, including the
Special Constables, the Kampong Guards etc. (see 2.1.B.3.). Regulations for the

8 Komer, p.42, Barber, p.162

8 Sunderland (1964b), p.15, 27, vii
& Mackay, p.37, 87

# ibid., p.51
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formation of the Special Constables emerged a mere week following the declaration of
the Emergency and swift recruitment followed.?® In July 1948, HQ Malaya District
authorised the formation of ‘Ferret Force’ — an ad hoc unit composed and led by veterans
of the Special Operations Executive unit that had operated in Malaya during World War
I1. In 1950, the Malayan Scouts were formed as a special forces unit (see personnel)

Infrastructure

Four-fifths of Malaya was covered in thick tropical jungle. A mountain ridge runs down
the middle of the country, reaching in places above 2,000 metres. Whereas the west side
of this ridge is comparatively clear and benefited from good north-south communication
links, there was scant infrastructure linking the east and west of the country.

The bulk of military operations in Malaya took place in the jungle. Operational success in
this terrain required training and familiarity. By force, movement was slow and
challenging — at best, a patrol might cover five to ten kilometres per day.?® Chance
encounters with the guerrillas were rare and would seldom result in open battle. Once
engaged, the rebels would flee along jungle paths. Identifying these paths and
anticipating the communists’ escape routes became a critical component in the
Commonwealth forces’ eventual operational approach.

The British had a good understanding and knowledge of the workings of Malaya,
stemming from centuries of interaction and links with this territory. Control over the
Malayan states was formalised through a series of treaties signed with state sultans in the
1765-1800 period, which established British control over parts of Malaya in return for
considerable sums of money. By 1825, British authority in Malacca had been
consolidated. In the late 19" century, the British government sought to diffuse tension
between various Malay states and managed, through treaties, to deploy a British Resident
to Perak, Selangor and Sungei Ujong to guarantee law and order. This Resident
framework was later emulated in other states, but at no time were the Malay states
considered British territory. This setup resulted in significant economic and
infrastructural development in Malaya.

This background clearly offered the British representatives in Malaya numerous
advantages: there was a legacy of trust and familiarity, and the close association between
the two countries generated an intimate knowledge of the networks, workings and culture
of Malaya. Importantly, the British had been less successful in fomenting relations and
understandings with the ethnic-Chinese community.

Logistics

® ibid., p.47
8 Conversation with Lt lan Rae, 25April 2006

24 of 246



Part 11

Functioning logistic links were critical to the manner in which the British forces fought
the MRLA. Having identified long-term immersion in deep jungle as a successful means
of pursuing and hunting down the guerrillas, it became critical that the flow of air supply
was smooth, reliable and well organised. Precise and timely air drops would allow the
troops on the ground relative autonomy in the jungle and increase their reach. The
resultant lightness and flexibility contributed to more successful operations.

The airdrops were commonly carried out by Dakotas, which were apparently ‘ideally
suited’ to the weather conditions.®” Packs of approximately 80 kilograms were loaded in
Kuala Lumpur and dropped by parachute through the plane’s side door. The ground
patrol commander would select a dropping zone — usually a 90m? open area — and signal
its location with a marker balloon.

The logistical chain into Malaya was less reliable. Most accounts of the Emergency cite a
counterinsurgency campaign run on a shoestring and with minimal support from
Whitehall. This situation no doubt improved with time but the UK and Commonwealth
forces never benefited from the type of logistical and infrastructural support tended to the
US troops in Vietnam.

Information and Networked Flow of Material and Awareness

The British counterinsurgency success in Malaya relied on the effective gathering,
dissemination and use of intelligence. Operationally, the emphasis shifted from
outgunning to outsmarting the guerrilla, requiring reliable and trusted information flows.
More generally, the coherence of the overall campaign required coordination between the
different services and agencies involved. Importantly, the information and networking
mechanisms evolved gradually and in response to trial-and-error. Ultimately, however,
they served to marginalise the MRLA physically as well as politically.

The information flows and their effect in Malaya are best captured by considering the
evolving manner in which intelligence was acquired and disseminated (see 2.1.E. for an
assessment of how the improved availability and quality of information affected the
success-rate of military operations). Information flows and networking, in this context,
centred on the development of sophisticated intelligence-gathering procedures and on
achieving good communications between and within the different services. These two
components — the acquisition and subsequent management of information — intertwine.

Initially, the military had, by force, relied on its own intelligence capabilities: they
followed footsteps, learned to ‘read’ the jungle for signs of rebel activity and developed
contacts that would provide a trickle of information. These methods were refined
throughout the Emergency and helped the Army pursue the MRLA in the jungle.

8 Air Commodore P. E. Warcup, CBE (cited in Peterson, Reinhardt & Conger), p.26. It is noteworthy that
for its merits, the Dakotas could not do a sharp climb. Having made a drop at around 60m above the
panoply, the pilot would have to spiral climb out of what would usually be a tight drop zone. It also had
limited forward and downward visibility.
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However, with time, the guerrillas became increasingly cautious. Following the October
1951 Directive, the MRLA also split up into smaller cells that were less readily located.
More detailed information on rebel whereabouts and activities were required, which
presupposed an effective working relation between Special Branch and the military.

Such inter-service cooperation had yet to mature: the police was in a bad state throughout
the first years of the Emergency (see personnel.), Special Branch was still “learning on
the job’ and there was no clear-cut division of labour between these different services and
the Army. Though Briggs had in May 1950 created the Federal Joint Intelligence
Advisory Committee, which was made responsible for all matters intelligence, the
dissemination of intelligence remained hampered by inter-service antipathy. This resulted
in information stovepipes: the police was reluctant to share its intelligence with the
military and the Army had nothing but disdain for the generally under-performing police
force. The two services also had widely differing conceptions of what constituted
intelligence. Police intelligence tended to be based on estimates and a degree of
speculation, whereas the military was more interested in hard facts and precise figures,
even when these were not necessarily available.

In an attempt to improve the interagency process, Briggs set up the Federal War Council
along with several state and district war executive committees (DWECs and SWECs).%
These councils were organised into a horizontal and vertical network across the country.
The committee system had three main benefits: first, the interagency representation
resulted in a shared awareness and exchange of information that cut across the traditional
stovepipes. As Sunderland puts it, ‘this picture of police and military working together in
the same room twenty-four hours a day, surrounded by fresh information and at the
center of first-rate communications — an achievement for which Briggs was responsible —
was very different from the informal, spasmodic, uncertain cooperation of 1948-1950".%
Second, the geographic dispersion enabled decentralised decision-making, as each
committee could focus on the issues most relevant to its state or district, where it could
also achieve more immediate effects. Finally, the committee system had also been
structured so as to allow for the quick dissemination of lessons learnt and best practices
between DWECs but also up and down the network.*

The flow of intelligence to the military improved considerably with the establishment of
state and district committees. Initially, most of the information came from surrendered
enemy personnel (SEP). MRLA defections had been encouraged from the outset:
surrender terms were promulgated on 6 September 1949 and High Commissioner Gurney
had early on announced amnesties and rewards for any information leading to the capture
or killing of senior MRLA cadres. It nonetheless took some years before the use of SEP
became sufficiently sophisticated to guarantee regular and reliable intelligence. In the
early years of the Emergency, many soldiers preferred to punish rather than reward

8 See Clutterbuck (1967), p.58, for a detailed table on the civil, military and police representatives in these
committees.

% Riley Sunderland, Antiguerrilla Intelligence in Malaya, 1948-1960, RM-4172-1SA (Santa Monica, CA:
RAND, 1964a), p.49. For information on the structure and workings of the operations rooms of the various
committees, see Sunderland (1964b), pp.46-48

% Barber, p.99
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former adversaries. Briggs himself was only persuaded by the benefits of using SEP
when his director of Emergency Information Services, Hugh Carleton Greene, threatened
to resign over the matter in 1950.°* In the following years, the use of SEP became
commonplace and more advanced. Once converted, Briggs sought to encourage defection
by employing PSYOPS and propaganda, a dimension hitherto overlooked by the British
authorities.®? By 1952, Sir Arthur Edwin Young, the Commission of Police, had created
an interrogation centre staffed entirely by ex-rebels who were particularly adept at
convincing recently captured or surrendered cadres to speak.

Henceforth, intelligence assumed a more central place in the counterinsurgency
campaign. Accordingly, the allegiance of the 500,000 ethnic-Chinese squatters became of
paramount importance; they were the lifeline of the MRLA and held information
regarding their activities and location. Partly for this reason, the New Villages were
constructed not as concentration or labour camps, but as politically engaged and
progressive communities, where the Chinese villagers could own land, work, engage in
local politics and move freely (though certain restrictions and Emergency regulations
were only dropped as the insurgency waned). It was of course politically crucial that the
support of the villagers was maintained, but cordial relations would also motivate the
squatters to cooperate with the security forces. The result was a steady flow of
intelligence.

The New Villages also made it possible to monitor suspicious activity and control the
supply of goods to the MRLA. From the outset, the entire Malayan population over 12
years of age had been forced to register at police stations and receive identification cards.
These measures allowed the police to monitor the villages, judge who belonged where
and establish an understanding of relations and social networks. Severed from its
traditional support network, the MRLA guerrillas would be forced to take greater risks to
find food, which would often compromise their location, contacts and activities.
Together, the New Villages and the food controls cut the link between the guerrilla and
the people, or, in Maoist terms, the fish and the sea.

Though the interagency committee system had helped to remedy the split in civil-military
affairs, Briggs left Malaya in November 1951 complaining at his lack of influence as a
Director of Operations. Constrained by Whitehall and unable to shake the police force out
of its internal squabbling and mediocrity, Briggs urged Whitehall to bestow his successor
with powers over the entire defence branch and the police.*®

The civil-military disconnect was particularly troubling. In an attempt to avoid alarm and
panic, the military and police had initially played down the seriousness of the violence,
much of which was occurring in the rural countryside. Thus, as late as 1950, city-bound
civil servants were still oblivious to the large-scale violence and bloodshed taking place
in the jungle.** As a result, the civil authorities” understanding of the situation lagged

° Nagl, p.93
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considerably and undue resources and energy were instead spent on bureaucratic feuds
and rivalry. To improve the level of civil-military coherence, Gen. Templer was offered
both the role of High Commissioner and that of Director of Operations. Upon taking
command, Templer issued a directive concerning this civil-military disconnect: ‘Any idea
that the business of normal civil government and the business of the Emergency are two
separate entities must be Killed for good and all. The two activities are completely and
utterly interrelated’.*® Soon after, Templer merged the Federal Executive Council with
the Federal War Council, indicating a fusing of civil and military functions and concerns.
With supreme control over the both of these spheres — and with a ruthless means of
dealing with those who would not toe the line — Templer managed to achieve a more
coherent and joined-up level of civil-military cooperation.

Templer was also directed to reorganise and improve the standard of the police force. In
his final report to this successor in November 1951, Harold Briggs ‘commented bitterly
on the failure of Sir William Jenkin [the head of Special Branch] and Nicol Gray [the
Commissioner of the Police] to co-operate in achieving a significant improvement in the
flow of Intelligence’.® Prior to Templer’s arrival, Colonial Secretary Oliver Lyttleton
dismissed both men. In a plan delivered directly to Churchill and echoing the
recommendations of the Briggs report, Lyttleton urged that direction of civil and military
forces be controlled by one man and that the police be completely reorganised and given
better equipment and training. The subsequent year, Gerald Templer spent more than
£300,000 on the police and seconded Army majors to improve police training.”’

Templer built on the successes achieved by Briggs in acquiring and disseminating
information and intelligence. In May 1952, he increased the rewards for information
leading to the capture of MRLA senior cadres. The amounts involved — $250,000 for
Chin Peng, $200,000 for a Politburo member — were so staggering as to induce defection
and betrayal. The surrendered combatants would be interrogated by Special Branch and
often provide valuable intelligence, sometimes even physically lead the security forces to
their former camp.®® The SEP would also be used to prompt further defections: their good
treatment was advertised, as were the business opportunities made possible through the
payouts of rewards. In 1953, Templer distributed Safe Conduct Passes throughout the
jungle, which promised good food and treatment for any MRLA cadres wishing to
surrender.

While the effects of the SEP system were cumulative, it was also a victim of its own
success: the guerrillas gradually became more paranoid and cautious, fuelling a mounting

% J. B. Perry Robinson, , Transformation in Malaya (London: Secker and Warburg, 1956), p.204

% Mackay, p.117

°" Barber, p.143, 156

% Because the MRLA relied so heavily on indoctrination, a break of loyalty would often be absolute. Only
a complete shift of loyalty could be psychologically manageable and the SEPs would often happily give
away the position of his erstwhile comrades. See Lucian W. Pye, Guerrilla communism in Malaya: Its
Social and Political Meaning (Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1956).
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need for a more imaginative means of interference.®® It became necessary to acquire
intelligence on the future location of rebel cadres so as to ensure an encounter. Such an
anticipatory intelligence capability would require the identification and covert turning of
rebel suppliers, something that often involved lengthy police investigations. The police
would first observe the suspected supplier and collect sufficient evidence for a foolproof
case. Finally, the supplier would be approached — discretely — and accused of cooperating
with the rebels. Presented with the incriminating evidence, the supplier would be given a
stark choice: arrest, detention or covert recruitment as an agent. Blackmail and bribes
were occasionally used to compel cooperation.

Although the availability and reliability of information had improved significantly in
1948-1952, the relation between the military and Special Branch remained uncertain.
Templer created the post of Director of Intelligence and appointed J. Morton, a former
MI5 officer, to coordinate the intelligence activities of these two services. Henceforth,
intelligence was made the business of Special Branch — it was to coordinate, analyse and
disseminate all intelligence matters for both the police and the Army. As a focal point for
intelligence, its needs took precedence. Elements within the Army objected to the
subordination of its operations to the intelligence activities of Special Branch.'®® This
problem was partially remedied by the secondment of 30 Special Military Intelligence
Officiallos1 to Special Branch, whose task it was to represent the various interests of the
Army.

This formalisation of the division of labour made the acquisition of intelligence the main
thrust of the counterinsurgency campaign. Special Branch was now effectively running
the show, with the military adopting a supporting role. Every military operation had to be
cleared by a police authority and Special Branch also had the power to declare certain
areas ‘frozen’, or barred from military activity for the sake of ongoing covert
investigations. This clear division of labour allowed Special Branch to perfect its
intelligence-gathering techniques.

The following years saw the implementation of new and inventive means of disrupting
the enemy network. Noel Barber tells of the work of Special Branch radio experts who
were constructing and leaking bugged radio sets to the enemy. ‘Special Branch could be
sure that sooner or later such a set would reach the jungle — and when it did, when the CT
tuned into Peking or Radio Malaya, the set emitted a bleep-bleep homing signal that
could not be heard in a jungle camp, but gave precise directions to the nearest monitoring

team,l102

Through the effective harnessing of SEP intelligence, the security forces were eventually
able to penetrate and disrupt the MRLA’s communications network. Lacking in radios,

 In dispatch from Sir D. MacGillivray dated 26 Jan 1955, the High Commissioner notes a drop in the
surrender rate from a monthly average of 31 in 1953 to a level of 17 in 1955. Dispatch found in Stockwell
(1995b), pp.83-89
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190 ibid., pp.19-24, 27-28

192 Barber, p.163

29 of 246



Part 11

the communist guerrillas relied on a complicated courier system to communicate.'®® To
ensure secrecy and improve the speed of communications, each message was carried by a
succession of couriers, each of whom would be responsible for a short section of the total
journey. The couriers would meet at secret hiding places or use jungle-based mailboxes
to pass on the message. Thus, ‘even if one link were broken, [the communications chain]
was still essentially secret’.’®* Though it took years before this system was cracked,
Special Branch was through the interrogation of several SEP able to turn a key number of
couriers and thus intercept several messages. Importantly, these messages were copied
rather than confiscated to ensure that the breach in the communications system remain
secret. By intercepting MRLA communications, Special Branch gained anticipatory
knowledge of its future activities.'

The improvement in the work of Special Branch complemented the interagency
committees set up by Briggs and allowed for detailed and timely information flows to the
military. This new synergy was epitomised by the ‘food-denial operations’, launched
jointly by the police, Special Branch and the Army with the distinct aim of identifying
and turning rebel suppliers. The police force would designate an area and conduct a
thorough investigation of its social networks. On a given day, the police would, without
warning, arrest all suspected suppliers in the area. By thus interfering with the rebels’
logistical flows, the MRLA would be forced to establish new suppliers elsewhere. The
Army would then saturate-patrol all adjacent areas but leave the designated area
comparatively unguarded, thereby harrying the rebels in that direction. There, the police
would monitor the rebels’ attempts to establish new suppliers, whom would later be
contacted by Special Branch or police units. If turned, these suppliers would be used
covertly as agents to acquire precise information on the guerrillas’ future activities and
movements.'® This information would be fed back to the Army which would organise
ambushes on the set location.

Through such practices, Special Branch was by the mid-1950s familiar with the MRLA
order of battle, its leaders, their location and their movements. This apex was the
culmination of an evolving approach that hinged first on basic policing and military
intelligence, then on SEP and, finally, on agents. The information became more precise
and, through the network of interagency committees, its dissemination would be timely
and shared across the customary bureaucratic stovepipes. In these daily briefings,
operations would be planned with an interagency mindset. Critically, this end-state was
reached gradually and through the force of inspired leadership.

Some analysts have suggested that the very nature of British society helped it formulate
an appropriate counterinsurgency strategy.’®” The class system, and the fact that most

103 5ee Clutterbuck (1967), p.89, for more information on the MRLA’s communications system.

104 Barber, p.83

105 Richard Joseph Wauchope Craig, Imperial War Museum Sounds Archive, Accession No. 10175 (11
April 1988)

195 This process is explained in detail in Richard Clutterbuck, Riot and Revolution in Singapore and
Malaya, 1945-1963 (London: Faber, 1973), pp.212-214

197 See Thomas Mockaitis, British Counterinsurgency 1919-1960 (New York: St. Martin’s Press, 1990),
p.175
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officers were picked from a handful of public schools, are said to have resulted in a tight
network where communications could be informal across ranks and therefore allow for
more agile decision-making. This common background, it is argued, also produced a
striking commonality in outlook and approach, reinforcing the overall direction of the
counterinsurgency effort.’®® This last conclusion may however be premature, as there is
no evidence that a shared view of a problem necessarily produces a constructive
approach.

Perceptions of Quality of Information and Networking (Measures of Information
Position)

The quality, timeliness and relevance of information and intelligence available to the
individual soldier improved substantially under the leadership first of Briggs and then of
Templer. Prior to the resettlement plan, prior to the establishment of the network of state
and district interagency councils and prior to the restructuring of Special Branch, the
available intelligence was often insufficient and too slow in coming. In April 1950,
General Sir John Harding, Commander in Chief, FARELF, identified the problem at
hand: “‘Our greatest weakness now is the lack of early and accurate information of the
enemy’s strength, dispositions and intentions. For lack of information an enormous
amount of military effort is being necessarily absorbed on prophylactic and will o” the
wisp patrolling and jungle bashing and on air bombardment’.%°

This sentiment is echoed in the statements of various commanders involved in the early
phases of the campaign. The description of a 1948 operation by a Gurkha battalion
commander is wholly representative: ‘we had no information about anything in the
area... apart from the generally-accepted fact that the haystack did contain a needle or
two; then, to carry the simile a little further, the only thing to do was to disturb the hay
and hope at least to get our fingers pricked’.**® When interviewed, Lt lan Rae, 1st
Singapore Regiment Royal Artillery, who served in Malaya from 1950-1952, commented
that most of the patrols in 1951 involved “a lot of guesswork [and] were fruitless’; “there
was only really a remote chance of an encounter so it was more a matter of marching and
looking while cutting your way through secondary jungle’.'* Statements and
recollections from the police force reveal similar intelligence shortages: Richard J. W.
Craig, a British police officer who served in Malaya from 1948-64, notes that ‘when |
first went out to Malaya there was really no intelligence collecting machinery or

apparatus on the ground. You were left very much to your own devices’.**?

108 Nagl, p.196
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Pp.229-230
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The recollections of another commander emphasises the lack not only of intelligence but
also of basic tactical information. Writing in 1950, this commander complained that he
was missing ‘important information on the land and people of their areas of operation’.
Furthermore, the maps in use ‘were editions of 1943 and 1944 showing neither jungle
tracks nor small villages; the available aerial photography were some eighteen months
out of date; and the only information on the Chinese squatters used in 1950 was taken
from the 1947 census’. Finally, the commander states that ‘he did not know how the
guerrillas obtained their food; which of the shops were guerrilla contact centers; who
among the casual visitors to towns and villages were guerrilla agents; and which
schoolteachers were teaching communism’.**

Moreover, the general feeling among the troops on the ground was that whatever
information was available was not being properly disseminated. With an overly
centralised command structure, the collection of information was done on federation and
state levels rather than in the districts, where such information might be put to greater and
more immediate use. This system reflected the favoured approach at the time, but it made
it virtually impossible for the patrol leaders and junior officers to make quick decisions or
act autonomously. ‘The patrol leader who needed information had to visit some half-

dozen people before he took out his patrol”.***

As seen, part of the problem related to the schism between the police force and the Army,
which grew particularly intense in the years leading up to 1953. Though one of the first
actions of High Commissioner Gurney was to make the police the lead agency for the
Emergency, the legacy of institutional squabbling between the two services resulted in
continued rivalry over the ‘ownership’ of intelligence — a conflict only resolved by the
reforms to the intelligence structure imposed by Templer in 1952-53. This antagonism is
reflected in public statements by members of both services. Most infamously, Major-
General Boucher, GOC Malaya, frequently expressed his belief that the Emergency was
‘just the job for an army’ and that it was unthinkable that ‘a bunch of coppers should start
telling the generals what to do’.**> The police was similarly predisposed. Neither service
appreciated having to ‘subject their plans to scrutiny in the interest of ‘co-ordination’, this
in spite of regular occurrences of friendly fire’.*® The two services also had widely
differing conceptions of what constituted intelligence. Writing in 1956, J. B. Perry
Robinson noted that ‘it was very difficult in the early years for the Police to present the
results of their Intelligence in a form the Army could use, and very difficult for the Army
to appreciate the value of what the Police called Intelligence’.*’

Much of the Army’s criticism of the police during these early years was warranted. In his
final report to this successor in November 1951, Harold Briggs ‘commented bitterly on
the failure of Sir William Jenkin and Nicol Gray to co-operate in achieving a significant

13 Sunderland (1964a), pp.10-11 — based on Appendix A, Quarterly Historical Report, 1 Battalion,
Devonshire Regiment, 31 March 1950
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improvement in the flow of Intelligence’.**® Part of the problem was that the police force
was itself split into four camps: those who had remained in the force during the Japanese
occupation under WW2, those who had spent those years in prison camps, those who had
simply melted away and returned following the Japanese surrender, finally, those who
had been redeployed from Palestine to Malaya in the early years of the Emergency. There
was little integration between these four camps, and the likelihood of any meaningful
exchange between the police as a whole and the Army was therefore minimal. In the
words of Colonial Secretary Oliver Lyttleton, intelligence between the military and civil

authorities was in late 1951 ‘scanty and unco-ordinated”.***

Lyttleton’s interest in Malaya was in and of itself something of a watershed, indicating a
new level of interest in the Emergency on the part of the government. Civil-military
cooperation and information-sharing had been poor in the first few years of the
Emergency. By the time Briggs left Malay, he castigated the British government for
having failed to support the counterinsurgency effort. According to Briggs’ final report in
November 1951, no improvement had been made since the establishment of the Malayan
Committee and equipment was still slow to arrive in theatre. Briggs commented that ‘the
need to lobby so many decisions through State Governments slowed things down,
approval for expenditure was still subject to peacetime procedures and paralysing
bureaucratic delay, decisions were avoided while the buck was passed, and very few
senior officials were seized of the need to put the Federation on a war footing’.'® To
Briggs, the British government, both in London and in Kuala Lumpur, did not seem to
realise the full extent of the situation. It is telling that, three years into the Emergency, the
then Colonial Secretary James Griffiths perceived the Malayan Emergency as ‘a military

problem to which we have not been able to find the answer’.*?!

As seen, part of the problem related to the security forces’ attempts to avoid generating
alarm and panic in the cities, which were isolated from the instability. Thus, city-bound
civil servants remained largely oblivious to the large-scale violence and bloodshed taking
place in the jungle.'® The resultant civil-military disconnect was only addressed in 1952,
when Templer was offered both the role of High Commissioner and that of Director of
Operations. Whilst in command, Templer emphasised that ‘there should be no separation
between controlling the Emergency and controlling the ordinary civil affairs... he said
this is all one war’.*?® Because Templer had been appointed by Churchill himself and
because Lyttleton’s visit to Malaya in 1951 had impressed upon him the urgency of the
situation, Templer received an unprecedented level of support from London and was able
to push through the desired changes.
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With a more functional interagency process and a reorganised intelligence structure, the
information flows to the Army became increasingly regular and reliable, something
reflected in the recollections of servicemen active in the post-1951 period. From this
point, statements from both the police and the Army generally express satisfaction with
the SEP system, the information provided by Special Branch and the awareness achieved
through operational research and the dissemination of lessons learnt. Writing in January
1955, High Commissioner Donald MacGillivray, Templer’s successor and former deputy,
notes that ‘most of the successful Security Force contacts with the terrorists have been the
result of information, rather than chance encounter, and the best information has, in the
past, come from surrendered terrorists’.*** To Richard J. W. Craig, the police officer, ‘the
most important intelligence... was the surrender of a terrorist... You could use the
tactical information he gave... The army always had a unit on immediate standby and if
you got the intelligence you did in fact act within minutes’.*®® Commenting upon the
effects of operational analysis, Lt-Col Robert lan Hywel-Jones, who served in Malaya in
1955-1958 as part of the 1st Battalion South Wales Borderers, explains that ‘by studying
reports of terrorist incidents — and all of the papers that were available which were
captured from terrorists up and down the peninsula — one developed really quite an
understanding of what they were, and how they would do things’.*?®

Measures of Operational Success/Failure in relation to Information/Networking
(Measures of Decision Superiority)

Information advantage

The jungle terrain combined with MRLA’s reluctance to engage in open battle to turn the
Malayan counterinsurgency into something of a ‘shooting war’, where only the first
soldiers per patrol would actually be able to engage the enemy. A successful operation
was therefore one in which the rebels were caught by surprise. In other words, locating
the rebels was more important than outgunning them and operational success therefore
depended on achieving and maintaining information superiority. One of the purposes of
the interagency intelligence structure that developed in Malaya was to provide the
military with the type of information that would guarantee an encounter with the MRLA.
Acquiring such intelligence was however only half the battle: when in operation, it was
equally vital that the Army maintain that information superiority. Patrols to locate the
guerrillas therefore demanded remarkable discretion — it was a matter of gaining
information without giving any away. Silence was of paramount tactical importance.
Jungle-craft, tracking and the cooperation of indigenous jungle-based tribal populations
also became foundational to Army operations. Sunderland illustrates the operational
value of intelligence: ‘In 1952, odds of achieving a contact on the strength of information

124 | ifted from a despatch from the High Commissioner to Secretary of State for Colonies Lennox-Boyd,
dated 26 January 1955, and found in Stockwell (1995b), pp.83-89
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125 Interview with Lt-Col Robert lan Hywel-Jones, as cited in Nagl, p.106
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were 1 in 10 for an ambush and 1 in 17 for a patrol, and the absence of information

reduced these odds to 1 in 33 and 1 in 88, respectively”.*?’

One measure of the operational impact of information superiority lies in the Army’s shift
from large and often ineffective sweeps to small-unit, intelligence-enabled patrols and
ambushes. Again, this was a gradual process but one that illustrates the growing
importance and effect of ‘intelligence-enabled operations’. The narrative also reveals the
initial difficulties that confronted the Army as it sought to transform itself for jungle
operations.

In the late 1940s, the junior officers closest to the action realised that any operational
success achieved through large-unit sweeps was based on chance encounters. Meanwhile,
the likelihood of these encounters was severely diminished by the size of the sweeps, as a
larger unit is less discrete, mobile and agile. This realisation generated a split, where the
units most involved in jungle warfare adapted to the conditions on the ground rather than
heed the advice of their superiors. This advice also became increasingly misguided as the
insurgents split up and dispersed.

Sunderland cites Major E. R. Robinson, a rifle company commander, who in 1950 ‘spoke
out bluntly against the large operation. The bigger operation ... and the higher the level at
which it was planned, the less its chance of success; the buildup and the preparations
were impossible to conceal; it was difficult to control troops in the jungle, and the
guerrillas simply vanished’.*?® By force and through frustration, the jungle-bound units
gradually adapted to the operational circumstances. Henceforth, more emphasis was
placed on small-unit operations, which required careful intelligence-gathering and
patience. Rather than raiding large sections of jungle in the hope of eliminating guerrillas,
the soldiers began laying ambushes at precise locations identified with the help of
informants, SEP and through careful investigation. Intelligence and information channels
were developed though ‘long hours of tactful discussions with police officers,
administrators, rubber planters, tin miners, and local community leaders’.?® Additional
tactical information was obtained through tracking and effective jungle reconnaissance,
skills that were only gradually acquired as a result of trial-and-error.™*® With experience,
the British forces spread out in company-sized camps throughout the jungle. The camps
allowed the soldiers to increase their local intelligence and agility without establishing
fixed targets or immobile forts. This was the ‘framework’ plan that gradually gained
prevalence in Malaya.'®

127 Riley Sunderland (1964c), Army Operations in Malaya, 1947-1960 (Santa Monica, CA: RAND), p.145
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The shift from large-unit guesswork to small-unit operations was thus a process of
replacing mass with information. It was an ad hoc response to operational realities, but
one that was no doubt accelerated through the dissemination of training received at the
FTC. The response was however resisted: ‘in mid-1949... General Boucher believed that
his [large-unit sweep] tactics were working, and that he only needed more troops to finish
the job completely’.**> Even when the need for change became apparent, several senior
officers were reluctant ‘to upset the whole organisation and training of [a] battalion just

to chase a lot of [rebels] around the jungle’.**

During Briggs’ tenure as Director of Operations, the military leadership (including Briggs
himself) gradually came to realise the benefits of the ad hoc small-unit approach that had
evolved in the jungle. This is when the British military in Malaya became a learning
organisation, willing to adapt on the basis of experience rather than preconceived
operational procedures and personal preferences. Henceforth, some of the most
constructive innovations in the evolution of the counterinsurgency campaign were ‘top-
down’, but each built on the lessons drawn from the units on the ground. The leadership
also continued to encourage this bottom-up adaptation: as Briggs commented in 1950,
‘the brigadiers and battalion commander [will] have to reconcile themselves to war being
fought by junior commanders down to lance-corporals who will have the responsibility to
make the decision on the spot if necessary... Flexibility of operations in the jungle must

be the keynote’.***

Once the shift to small-unit operations was in full effect, the British forces were quick to
consolidate on the progress already made and perfect the technique. This was encouraged
by Templer, who placed emphasis on operational analysis and formed an Operational
Research Team for this purpose. From 1953 on, commanders were required to fill in a
detailed form (Form ZZ) following every encounter. These were collated and analysed to
identify the disadvantages and advantages of various approaches.’* Many of the lessons
thus learnt had already been implemented by the soldiers on the ground. Nonetheless, the
operational analysis did contribute to the perfection of these techniques. ‘Battle drills for
assault through jungle terrain were devised. More efficient wireless techniques to
improve communications were found. The heavy ‘administrative tail” was eliminated by

better rationing methods’.**

Most TTPs developed in this manner emphasised the importance of acquiring and using
intelligence and information without giving any away. In recognition of the information
advantage gained through jungle-craft, Templer activated a Sarawak Ranger Regiment in
1953. The Sarawak were Borneo tribesmen whose excellent tracking skills were used to
‘out-guerrilla’ the MRLA in the jungle. Around the same time, Lt-Col Walter Walker,
then the commander of the First Battalion, Sixth Gurkha Rifles, begun deploying SEP to
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evaluate each of his own companies, a practice that led to significant operational
innovations designed to throw off the enemy and exploit its weaknesses.**’

Even the cooperation achieved between air and ground troops was predicated on
maintaining an information advantage. Comparatively little emphasis was placed on
offensive air operations — despite devising a number of ways enhance bombing precision,
aerial raids were deemed too slow, too indiscrete and, thus, too inefficient to produce
results.’®® Instead, air supplies allowed for longer stays and deeper immersion in the
jungle, generating greater familiarity and operational reach. In the final phase of
hostilities, the introduction and use of STOL aircraft (most commonly Pioneers) became
critical in supplying the jungle forts established in deep jungle. These allowed the
Malayan and Commonwealth forces to pursue the MRLA cadres into deep jungle and
win over the indigenous population, thereby depriving the guerrillas of one of their last
sources of support.

Network in Operations

Networking — the sharing of intelligence between police, Special Branch and military —
was fundamental to the defeat of the MRLA. Effective intelligence-sharing helped locate
rebel cadres and camps, their planned activities, and disrupt their support and
communications networks. This approach relied on the interagency network that had
evolved since the early months of the Emergency and been formalised in the committee
system under Briggs . This setup pushed decision-making down and enabled quick action
that was informed by the specific local conditions.

In several ways, the campaign was also a struggle to disrupt your adversary’s network.
The central function of the New Villages was to separate the guerrillas from the people,
thereby disrupting the rebels’ supply-lines and isolating the guerrillas. This simplified the
counterinsurgency campaign: henceforth anyone found in the jungle could reasonably be
suspected to be a guerrilla, as the civilians were kept under close surveillance. By
interfering with the rebels’ supply lines, the British forces could also harry the rebels
toward more vulnerable lines of communication, which could then be intercepted to glean
new information and allow for future ambushes. As seen, the idea of network disruption
is epitomised in the sophisticated food-denial operations mounted by the British military
and police forces in conjunction with Special Branch.

A third dimension to the operational role of networks relates to Army unit connections.
Clear channels of communication between units was emphasised from the outset; these
practices subsequently evolved and became increasingly sophisticated. Already in 1948,
the Army had installed telephones in each outlaying police post to create a rudimentary
network. By placing hourly phone-calls between the posts, the units could react quickly
to any disturbance or irregularity. Each base had a stand-by party for just such a
contingency. Whilst in operation, the units were linked by radio, though these were
cumbersome and deemed largely unessential to mission success.***
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Rather than communicate during the operation, the networked planning between units
tended to occur prior to deployment. As the MRLA would typically disperse when
attacked, the Army needed to coordinate between various units to pre-empt and intercept
the fleeing rebels. By studying the topography and the jungle terrain, the Army could
anticipate the rebels’ escape route and coordinate a two-part attack, whereby one unit
would ambush and another would be poised to pick off the rebels as they fled along
identified jungle paths. In other instances, one unit would patrol a certain area and others
would mount ambushes along escape paths likely to be used by the insurgents. Pre-
deployment planning and coordination also allowed various units to grant each other
‘clearance’, meaning that anyone encountered within a certain area was sure to be hostile.
It is worth re-emphasising that these methods all depended on the effective separation of
the people and the guerrillas through measures such as the construction and careful
monitoring of the New Villages. Collateral damage, an inflammatory and
counterproductive feature of most counterinsurgency campaigns, was thus effectively
limited throughout the later years of the campaign.

Another dimension of unit-to-unit networking can be seen in the vital and exemplary
level of synergy achieved between the air force and the ground troops. Smooth and
reliable air-ground coordination and communications were essential for the provision of
aerial reconnaissance, surveillance, troop insertion and medical evacuation. The delivery
of supplies was particularly important and critical to mission success. ‘A ground patrol
could carry only seven days’ supply on its back. Air supply made them completely
independent; [it] allowed ground forces to operate in deep jungle and stay there as long as
circumstances demanded’.**® As a result, the soldiers were more familiar with the jungle
and could maintain constant pressure on the adversary, wherever he sought to hide. The
benefits inherent to this approach prompted the activation of the SAS, whose use of
troop-carrying helicopters post-1953 allowed for prolonged deep-jungle operations.

Tactically, this air-ground coordination was achieved through radio links. But to ensure
and emphasise mutual operational awareness, the aircraft crew would be taken out on ten-
day jungle patrols with the Army — ‘to impress upon us the necessity of accurate
dropping’.*** As Commander Garrison of the Royal Australian Air Force (RAAF) put it:
‘crews came back from these ground tours in the jungle with a much better understanding
of the problem. That helped cooperation a lot’.**?

The introduction of STOL aircraft (most commonly Pioneers) was critical to the ‘jungle-
fort’ phase of hostilities, in which the Malayan and Commonwealth forces pursued the
insurgents deep into the jungle. The jungle forts, each of which was supplied by STOL,
enabled a long-term presence in the deep jungle and allowed the British forces to win
over the indigenous population, thereby depriving the MRLA of one of their last sources
of support.

140 Ajr Commodore P. E. Warcup, CBE, RAF, as cited in Peterson, Reinhardt & Conger, p.26
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2 Air Commodore A. D. J. Garrisson, OBE, RAAF, as cited in Peterson, Reinhardt & Conger, p.61
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Protecting the Network

The MRLA did try to sever some of the links established by the British security forces,
but it was unable to threaten the evolving network. During the early years of the
campaign, MRLA cadres would be sent out to cut down telephone posts, thereby
isolating individual tin mines or rubber estates. This delayed the ability of the security
forces to protect the more remote sites. But, displaying ingenuity and flexibility, the
Army responded by deploying armed protection to the targeted rubber estates from
neighbouring towns.

During these early years of the Emergency, the MRLA would also attack village police
posts, deemed a vital node in the British network. The idea here was not to kill or
eliminate the policemen, many of whom were ethnic-Malays, but to obtain their covert
assistance. A 100-strong group of guerrillas would surround the 10-12 policemen, who
would be forced to surrender, then be disarmed and warned not to interfere with MRLA
business in the village. Richard Clutterbuck, a member of the Director of Operation’s
staff in Kuala Lumpur, notes that the MRLA ‘knew that the British could replace dead
policemen but that policemen who had been frightened might stay discreetly inside the
police compound at night, leaving the Communists free to deal with ‘traitors’ as they
wished’.**® An entire village could thereby become de facto MRLA territory without the
British-Malay government’s knowledge.

It was in counteracting this threat that the police stations were ordered to telephone
outlying posts every hour and to act at once in case of no reply. This system heightened
the reactions of the British soldiers and provided the Malay policemen with a modicum of
protection. As reinforcement squads were on constant alert, it would not take long to
reach the police station under attack and the MRLA would then most often disperse
rather than fight.

The Emergency was marked by this co-adaptive evolution of networks: both sides were
battling over reach of influence and control. One notable example of this struggle
concerns the MRLA’s attempts to disrupt the registration scheme put in place by Gurney.
In a directive issued in 1948, Chin Peng ordered his cadres to destroy the identity cards of
the villagers. Registration teams were attacked, as were unarmed villagers who would
have their identity cards forcibly removed. Yet as Barber explains, this was also a
psychological campaign: Chin Peng’s top propagandist, Osman China, ‘organized a
brilliant propaganda offensive, insisting that men were being registered as a prelude to
conscription, or to make it easier for the government to levy outrageous taxes’.*** The
pamphlets distributed by the MRLA also threatened the bearers of identity cards with
death.

The period of ‘registration card collecting’ coincided with an increase in violence. A
British countermeasure did not emerge until 1951, when the squatters were resettled in
New Villages. From this point onwards, MRLA intimidation of villagers became less
effective as access to each village was tightly controlled.

193 Clutterbuck (1967), p.48
144 Barber, p.75
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The MRLA’s network of influence and control was also weakened by its own decision in
1951 to desist from indiscriminate attacks on villagers. As part of the October 1951
Directive, Chin Peng acknowledged that the terror tactics employed in previous years had
backfired and that the MRLA needed a more populist image to obtain the vital support of
the people. From here on, ‘no identity or ration cards would be seized. There would be no
more burning of New Villages and coolie lines, no more attacks on post offices,
reservoirs, power stations or any public services. Civilian trains were no longer to be
derailed with high explosives’ and greater care was to be taken when attacking a
suspected traitor or enemy.** The new modus operandi would be based on progressive
political policies mixed with continued attacks on police and Army personnel.

By curtailing its campaign of violence, the MRLA unwittingly lost one of its strongest
networking assets: the fear and terror that it had engendered among civilians. The British
authorities had hitherto found it difficult to glean information from civilians, who feared
reprisals from the communists should they learn of the betrayal. Indeed, intimidation had
been one of the main means of popular control. ‘It did not matter whether the attacks
were large or small — like wildfire the news sped along the Asian grapevine that if
ordinary men and women wanted to stay alive they must do only one thing: obey’.*® As
the intensity of terror diminished, and as the security and opportunities provided in the
New Villages improved, the MRLA'’s tight clasp on information slowly loosened.

Evaluation of Information and Networking Contribution to the Outcomes of the
Operation (Measures of Campaign Effectiveness)

The value of networks in the prosecution of the Malayan counterinsurgency manifested
itself in four different ways: the interagency network; the operational network; the
disruption of the MRLA network; and the lessons-learnt network. Underlying these
networks lay a solid commitment to the creation and maintenance of information
superiority.

The evolution of an interagency network was a critical component in the marginalisation
of the MRLA. It ensured smooth and timely sharing of intelligence as well as policy
coordination. The daily briefings in the district and state committees, where information
would be shared between agencies and services, resulted in a military that was aware of
rebel positions, its activities and — even — its future movements. The regularity of
information exchanges would also allow for day-to-day planning and pre-operational
synchronisation, whereby two or more units could collaborate while in the jungle. Given
the terrain and the MRLA'’s tendency to avoid open battle, harnessing this information
network was the only means of guaranteeing an armed encounter with the guerrillas. The
intelligence network also fed the PSYOPS and propaganda machines; by the mid-1950s,
these instruments were used to target individual guerrilla leaders known to reside within a
certain area of the jungle. It would be no exaggeration to conclude that operational
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success hinged on effective networking between military units, Special Branch, the police
and the Malayan committee representatives.

The operational network allowed different units to communicate whilst in the jungle. The
value of this network is most forcefully illustrated by the smooth and exemplary level of
air-ground communications achieved in Malaya. Such linkages were critical in enabling
communications, reconnaissance, air supply, intelligence, tactical mobility and
evacuation. In various ways, these benefits all resulted in longer and/or more fruitful
immersions in the jungle. Aerial bombardment was also used to harry rebels in a set
direction, where other units would be ready to ambush them.

Thirdly, it could be argued that the British counterinsurgency campaign in Malaya was
largely an attempt to disrupt the MRLA network. Through the promulgation of
Emergency Regulations to the food rationing and the construction of New Villages, the
British forces were actively seeking to break the link between the guerrillas and their
suppliers. This was also achieved by providing the ethnic-Chinese civilians with
‘something to lose’ — a stake in the evolving Malayan nation — which encouraged them to
cooperate and, vitally, to provide information on the rebels’ whereabouts and activities.

Finally, the British counterinsurgency effort was aided by the construction of a horizontal
and vertical network for the propagation of best practices. The initially informal process
of bottom-up learning and adaptation was under Briggs and then Templer systematised
through operational analysis, resulting in the gradual crystallisation and refinement of
context-specific doctrine and training. The committee system was organised in such a
way as to allow the quick dissemination of lessons learnt between different district
councils and up and down the network.

Underlying these four types of networks lay a solid commitment to the creation and
maintenance of information superiority. The importance and centrality of information in
the Malayan Emergency should not be underestimated. Operationally, every innovation
of the British and Commonwealth forces was designed to gain more information without
giving any away. Learning jungle-craft, tracking, the cooperation with tribal populations
and the operational emphasis placed on silence and discretion were all measures that
helped generate an information superiority vis-a-vis the enemy. To that end, the British
and Commonwealth forces also underwent a gradual process of replacing mass with
information, as they moved from clumsy and cumbersome large-unit sweeps to agile,
discrete and intelligence-enabled small-unit patrols.

How to assess the influence of information-age concepts in the outcome of the Malayan
Emergency? As seen, information and information flows were critical in coordinating an
interagency response that could trump the guerrillas not only militarily (though this was
in itself a remarkable feat) but also politically and psychologically. Yet the success in
Malaya cannot be explained solely in terms of information flows. For starters, it must be
remembered that the operational successes of the UK and Commonwealth forces relied
on a wider political strategy that was attuned to the fears, aspirations and preferences of
the different ethnic communities of Malaya. Indeed, the success in Malaya was not
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military, but political. It is also doubtful what the military could have achieved without
the standing up and training of an effective home guard, the political process of ethnic
reconciliation, the hearts and minds campaign and the construction of viable and
politically-progressive ‘New Villages’.'*’” Enveloping these efforts was the British
government’s policy of achieving Malayan independence; tactical and operational
performance can only be fully assessed within this strategic context.

Ultimately, the success in Malaya was network-enabled but not network-centric; success
could not have taken place without the interagency structure and the information
superiority of the British troops. But at the centre of the counterinsurgency strategy lay an
admixture of inspired leadership, sound political judgement, astute adaptation and the
perceived legitimacy of the British and Commonwealth forces, who gradually came to be
seen as genuinely working for Malayan independence.
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1948-1951

Recorded: 6 April 1988

Source: Imperial War Museum Sounds Archive

5. Richard Joseph Wauchope Craig OBE MC
Description: British police officer served with Royal Federation of Malaya Police in
Malaya, 1948-1964

17 Analysis must also take into account the partially self-defeating effects of the MRLA’s October 1951
Directive, which greatly limited the sway and influence of the organisation.
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Recorded: 11 April 1988
Source: Imperial War Museum Sounds Archive

6. John Charles Rolley

Description: British NCO served with 1914 Air Observation Post Flight, RAF in Malaya,
1951-1952 and 1955-1958

Source: Imperial War Museum Sounds Archive

7. James Llewelyn Niven

Description: British police officer served with Palestine Police in Palestine 1945-1946
and with Royal Federation of Malaya Police in Malaya 1948-1958

Recorded: 28 September 1988

Source: Imperial War Museum Sounds Archive

8. Richard Charles Catling

Description: British police officer in Palestine 1934-1948 and Malaya, 1948-1954.
Commissioner of Police in Kenya, 1954-1964

Source: Imperial War Museum Sounds Archive

Recorded: September 1988

9. Arthur Hugh Peters Humphrey

Description: British Secretary for Defence and Internal Security in Federation of Malaya,
1953-1957

Source: Imperial War Museum Sounds Archive

Recorded: 13 February 1995

10. Douglas Johnson-Charlton

Description: British selection and training officer with 22nd Special Air Service in
Malaya, 1951-1952

Source: Imperial War Museum Sounds Archive

Recorded: 12 April 1995

11.William Stothard Tee

Description: British officer, served as chief instructor with Jungle Warfare School in
Malaya, 1948-1951

Source: Imperial War Museum Sounds Archive

Recorded: 6 January 1996

12. Dennis Edwin Ryan

Description: British private served with D Coy, 1st Bn Suffolk Regt in Malaya, 1950-
1952

Source: Imperial War Museum Sounds Archive

Recorded: 5 May 1998
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Case Study 2 - Northern Ireland (August 1969 - March
1972) - Dr Rod Thornton

Historical Sketch of Operation
Historical Sketch

Ireland had been partitioned by the United Kingdom government in 1921, allowing the
‘south’ to achiev its independence as the (predominantly Catholic) Irish Republic (the
‘Republic’). The ‘north’ (i.e. the six counties with a Protestant majority), became
Northern Ireland (or Ulster, or the ‘Province’), whose government maintained an
allegiance to Britain.**® Up to the late 1960s, the Catholic minority in Northern Ireland
(population ca 1.6m) had remained fairly quiescent, despite the iniquitous anti-Catholic
policies of the Protestant-dominated government in Belfast (Stormont).*® Protests,
however, did emerge in 1968 as, inspired by the Civil Rights movement in the US,
Catholics took to the streets. Protestant mobs challenged the Catholic marches in several
areas and by 1969 the protests and inter-communal rioting, principally in Belfast and
Londonderry (the two biggest cities in Ulster™®), had reached such a pitch that the police
could no longer cope. In August 1969, the Army was called onto the streets by the
government in London. The troops were drawn from the normally established garrison of
2,500 in the Province. The Army was successful in interposing itself between the two
factions as a peacekeeper, but not before several hundred homes, mostly Catholic, had
been torched and thousands of people had been forced to flee to their respective sectarian
heartlands.*®* The Catholic community welcomed the Army, which was perceived as
neutral and divorced from the Stormont government and its Protestant-dominated police
force (the Royal Ulster Constabulary — RUC). The RUC now left policing in Catholic
areas of Belfast and Londonderry entirely to the Army. The Army was thus the police
force as well as the peacekeeper.’>

The control of the troops became a significant challenge to th eGovernement. The
government in London (Westminster) did not want the Northern Ireland government at

%8 The term “‘United Kingdom’ covers all of Britain including Northern Ireland. The term ‘Great Britain’
excludes Northern Ireland as it only covers England, Scotland and Wales.

%9 The gerrymandering of political boundaries was a favoured ploy. For instance, 14,000 Catholic voters in
Londonderry could only return eight councillors to the city council while 8,000 Protestant voters could
return 12. Discrimination at places of work was also evident: in Belfast, the shipyard that built the Titanic,
Harland and Wolff, had 10,000 Protestant workers and only 400 Catholic. Peter Taylor, Brits: The War
Against the IRA (London: Bloomsbury, 2001) p.17. In the Province as a whole, Protestants outnumbered
Catholics roughly 2% to 1.

%0 In the 17" century, Protestant immigrants from the British mainland had renamed the city of Derry as
Londonderry. This became the official name and still is. The Catholic community refers to the city as
Derry. Soldiers likewise, to whom the distinction means basically nothing, use the name Derry since it has
two less syllables than Londonderry! Since the name Londonderry appears on all maps and in atlases, it
will be used here.

51 The government wanted troops to move in earlier but senior officers insisted on more time spent on
reconnaissance. The delay meant several hundred more burnt houses and several deaths.

152 Alun Chalfont, “The Army and the IRA’, Survival, 13, 6, June 1971, pp.208-211
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Stormont to be giving orders to senior officers; Stormont was more likely to deploy the
troops to keep the Catholics down rather than to keep the peace. Consultations over the
use of the Army still had to be held with ministers from Stormont because London could
not ignore what was a democratically elected government and one loyal to the Crown
(hence the term ‘Loyalist’, which is commonly used to describe the Protestant
community. The Catholics are traditionally referred to as ‘Nationalists’). Moreover, if
London had removed the government in Stormont (i.e. imposed ‘Direct Rule’), it would
prompt a Protestant rebellion of a far greater magnitude than that caused by the
Catholics.™

The situation presented some difficult command and control issues. The General Officer
Commanding (GOC) Northern Ireland, Lieutenant-General Sir lan Freeland, was
responsible to the Minister of Defence (MoD) in London. However, given the fact that
the police force was in a state of near-collapse, Freeland was also initially told to
‘command and task’ the police.™* But in being responsible for the police, he came under
the direction of the Home Office in London. Thus the GOC was responsible to three
masters: at Stormont, at the MoD, and at the Home Office (the respective departmental
ministers, Denis Healey and James Callaghan, also did not see eye-to-eye over Northern
Ireland).™ It is important to note that it was the Army that was instructed by politicians
to “sort this mess out’, but without being given either a plan to work toward or political
support in terms of “carrots’ (as had been the case in Malaya).

Initially, British troops were used purely in a peacekeeping role in the two big cities.
They kept the two communities apart while talks took place and while the police service
was reformed and the RUC reservist force, the B Specials, disbanded.’*® The troops’
main role was to prevent the ‘pogroms’ whereby Catholics and Protestants each tried to
burn members of the opposing community out of the areas that they, respectively,
believed to be ‘theirs’. It needs be said that, at this stage, there was no problem from the
Irish Republican Army (IRA) — the body the Catholics traditionally looked to as their
guardians from the actions of Protestant mobs. The IRA was, indeed, an ‘ally’ of the
Army since the desire of both was to halt Protestant incursions into Catholic estates.

Angry at the fact that “their’ police force was being reformed (and also disarmed),*’
Protestants took to the streets in October 1969 in the Shankill area of Belfast and tried to
force their way into Catholic areas. The Army deployed three battalions to deal with the
rioters.”® Troops then came under fire for the first time in the Province — the one and

153 See Caroline Kennedy-Pipe & Colin Mclnnes, ‘The British Army in Northern Ireland 1969-1972: From
Policing to Counter-Terror’, Journal of Strategic Studies, 20, 2, June 1997, pp.1-24

™ This was later altered, in order to dilute police ire, so that Freeland ‘coordinated” Army and police
actions. The Sunday Times Insight Team, Ulster (London: Andre Deutsch, 1972) p.169

155 David Charters, ‘From Palestine to Northern Ireland’, in David Charters & Maurice Tugwell, Armies in
Low-Intensity Conflict: A Comparative Analysis (London: Brassey’s, 1989), p.200

% The B Specials (almost exclusively Protestant) were especially despised by the Catholic community
given their brutal record in riot situations.

57 The RUC was the only UK police force to be routinely armed.

158 To prevent confusion, the term ‘battalion’ will be used here instead of the more familiar British term of
‘regiment’ to describe a battalion-sized grouping.
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only time from Protestant gunmen. Some 1,000 rounds were fired and 22 soldiers were
wounded (one policeman was killed). No rounds were returned by the Army.**® Troops
had the right to open fire (when there was a threat to life) but they felt constrained by the
fact that they were operating in the UK.'®® Eventually orders came from brigade (39 Bde
in Belfast)'®® that fire could be returned (66 rounds, two gunmen killed). However, the
troops returning fire had to operate under the guidance of nominated officers or NCOs.'®?

The Army tried to keep Catholic areas quiet. They began a ‘hearts and minds’ campaign
that included opening Army-run community centres, taking children on trips to the
countryside, running discotheques, etc.*®® These communities were quite content that the
Army was protecting them, particularly as their traditional guardians, the IRA, would not
use force to protect Catholic areas. As a Marxist organisation, it felt that it should not be
interceding between two sets of working-class groups, regardless of their sectarian
colour.® Indeed, the IRA’s main enemy was the government, not the Protestants. This
lack of action led to a split in the IRA’s ranks: the “‘Officials’ (OIRA) remained true to
their political cause, and a more aggressively minded faction formed a new organisation,
the Provisional IRA (PIRA).'*

All may then have remained calm between the Army and the IRA, and at this stage
negotiations between officers and members of both OIRA and PIRA were common as
they both tried to ease tensions in Catholic areas. They were both, however, competing to
be seen as the arbiters of power and tensions between the two became inevitable.

The breakdown came in 1970. The main problem was that neither the government in
Westminster nor that at Stormont — were it even inclined to do so — felt that it had the
power to prevent Protestant marches. Marches are a feature of life in Northern Ireland.
Many within the Protestant community felt that, despite the friction it would cause, it was
their inalienable right to come out on to the streets with pipe and drums to ‘celebrate’
certain battlefield encounters of the distant past where Catholic armies had been beaten
by Protestant ones (the Battle of the Boyne in July 1688, for instance). Banning such
marches would mean that the prime minister of Northern Ireland would have to resign —
his Protestant power base would no longer have supported him — and Stormont would be
thrown into crisis.

59 The Sunday Times, p.165.

180 1n places such as Aden, which the Army had recently left (1967), troops were more willing to open fire
(at the ring-leaders of riots, for instance).

11 The other brigade in the Province at this time was 8 Bde based in Londonderry. In 1972 an extra brigade
(3 Bde) was added to cover the border areas of Fermanagh, Tyrone and Armagh. H. M. Tillotson, With the
Prince of Wales’s Own: The Story of a Yorkshire Regiment, 1958-1994 (Wilby: Michael Russell, 1995)
p.110

162 Antony Deane-Drummond, “Exceedingly Lucky™: A History of the Light Infantry, (Bristol: Sydney Jary,
1993) p.39.

183 David Charters, ‘Intelligence and Psychological Warfare Operations in Northern Ireland’, RUSI Journal,
122, 3, September 1977, p.25

164 Taylor, pp.39-40

185 The OIRA did not attack troops after July 1970 and declared a complete ceasefire in 1973. Tillotson,
p.109
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Come the beginning of the summer-long ‘marching season’ in the spring of 1970,
tensions were inevitable. A Protestant march through Belfast in Easter of that year came
close to a Catholic estate — the Ballymurphy — and troops were deployed to keep the
marchers away from the young Catholic toughs who were intent on replying to the
provocation.

There were two specific problems facing the Army as it interposed. First, which way
were the troops supposed to face — towards Catholics or Protestants? In the end, they
turned to face what seemed to be the most aggressive element: the Catholic youths. But
this was not the action of an ‘ally’. The second problem was a distinct lack of numbers.
As governments do, the British government had withdrawn troops as soon as matters had
supposedly calmed down in late 1969.1°® Lacking in troops and under pressure from two
sides anxious to get at each other, the Army resorted to the use of the only internal
security (IS) weapon they had — CS gas.*®” The gas drifted across the Ballymurphy,
affecting all sections of the community from pensioners to young babies. Its effects
‘radicalised’ the areas in which it was used ‘creating solidarity where there was none
before’. The Army very suddenly became unpopular. The use of CS was a wonderful
recruiting tool for PIRA and the organisation now began to put itself forward more
earnestly as the protector of Catholic communities, not the Army.'®®

The marching season of 1970 continued. More trouble occurred in late June. The Army,
dealing with rioting in Belfast on the west side of the River Lagan had no troops spare to
protect the Catholic Short Strand enclave east of the river. PIRA took over defensive
duties (shooting dead six Protestant ‘invaders’) and gained the popular support previous
afforded to the Army. In early July, the Army’s support dissipated further, as troops,
acting on a tip-off, seized weapons in the Catholic Lower Falls district of Belfast. The
incident prompted complaints that the Army was ignoring its responsibility to protect
Catholics while at the same time also removing the means whereby they could protect
themselves. Rioting immediately broke out in the Lower Falls. The troops involved in the
initial weapons search tried to pull back but were surrounded. Other troops came to their
rescue, and when they too were surrounded, they also resorted to CS. The results were the
same as in Ballymurphy, although the riots that erupted had a new added factor as both
OIRA and PIRA elements fired on troops for the first time. The Army shot dead four
civilians (all non-IRA members).

Anxious to reassert authority — and with fresh troops landed that day (3 July), the Army
clamped down on the Lower Falls, imposing a 36-hour curfew. With the streets clear, the
Army applied time-honoured IS tactics to conduct a systematic house search — i.e. one
not one based on intelligence. With battalions such as the Royal Scots in charge, it was
never going to be done with discretion.'® Weapons were recovered, but the greater

168 When first deployed in August 1969, troops were supposed to be back in barracks ‘by the weekend’.
Thirty-six years later, they are still not back in barracks.

187 In traditional IS tactics, one in ten soldiers carried a rifle, the rest were armed only with batons.

168 Taylor, p.45

189 Soldiers from the Royal Scots, an overwhelmingly Protestant unit, were ill-inclined to carry out such
searches without leaving some degree of damage to Catholic homes. While in England and Wales, the
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damage had been done: the good relations that the Army had tried so hard to build up had
now been destroyed. For both wings of the IRA, the main enemy was now the Army and
not the Protestants.!™

With the IRA coming out so openly as opponents, the Army was pressed by Protestant
politicians to respond and take action. Among other snipes, such politicians criticised the
Army for its lack of intelligence on the IRA. In February 1971, in a seeming fit of pique
to show that the Army did indeed have intelligence, the Commander Land Forces
(CLF),*"* Major General Anthony Farrar-Hockley, publicly named the IRA leaders with
whom the Army had been negotiating. This was supposed to impress the Protestants. It
did, though, prove to IRA leaders that the Army could not be trusted. There would be no
more talks with the Army for the foreseeable future. The day after Hockley’s
announcement, the first British soldier was killed in Northern Ireland (shot by an IRA
sniper in Belfast on 6 February 1971)."

In 1971, the IRA launched a sustained bombing campaign. As the situation escalated,
calls went up for Internment to be reintroduced. Internment — the incarceration without
trial of suspected IRA members — had worked to stifle an IRA campaign in the 1950s."®
It was successful then, however, because the Irish Republic had also taken part in the
operation and arrested IRA members on its side of the border. The Army was now
generally keen to avoid Internment because officers were well aware of its negative
effects on the remnants of the Army’s ‘hearts and minds’ campaign. They also knew that
the Republic would never be party to any current Internment drive and that with suspects
escaping over the border, its effectiveness would inevitably be diluted. A new
Conservative government in Britain was however anxious to show its steel and felt that
Internment was necessary.'”

The operation was put into practice on 9 August 1971. Some 342 Catholics and not one
Protestant were arrested.!” Of those arrested, 105 were released within two days.
Intelligence was mostly wrong and few of the newer PIRA members were picked up. The
more important ‘players’ had gone to the Republic earlier, warned by the fact that the
Army, in the weeks before, was obviously ‘practising’ swoop arrest techniques. Sure
enough, the sense of injustice derived from Internment drew thousands onto the streets to
protest. Even the Army was shocked by the degree of reaction. Relations with the
Catholic community were in tatters and intelligence sources dried up. Fuel was added to
the fire when some of the interrogation techniques (learnt by the Army from the North

difference between Protestant and Catholic barely registers, there are still extant strong sectarian
distinctions in Scotland.

170 Sunday Times, pp.210-220

71 In 1970 a new command level — CLF — was added so that the GOC was not weighed down by too many
duties.

172 David McKittrick, Seamus Kelters, Brian Feeney & Chris Thornton, Lost Lives: The Stories of the Men,
Women and Children Who Died as a Result of the Northern Ireland Troubles (Edinburgh: Mainstream,
1999) p.64

7 Taylor, p.64

174 Sunday Times, pp.265-270

1> RUC informers would have tipped off any Protestants who were slated for arrest.

53 of 246



Part 11

Koreans) applied to 11 of the Internees were leaked. The UK’s standing in the world
went down considerably and many Americans, amongst others, were encouraged to
support the IRA. Its coffers grew.*’

Army casualties also grew (44 soldiers had died by the end of 1971 and 108 were to die
the following year). Troops in Belfast (this was still predominantly an urban terrorist
situation) clamped down hard on any manifestation of IRA power. Any barricades put up
to create no-go areas were swiftly removed. It was different in Londonderry. No-go areas
had been created in Catholic estates and senior Army officers there (of 8 Bde) had made
no effort to remove them. With temperatures running high following Internment, the
preference was, in this more Catholic-oriented city, to allow moderate Nationalist
politicians scope to get locals to remove the barricades themselves. The way riots were
dealt with was also part of this ‘containment’ strategy. Whereas units in Belfast would
deal swiftly and harshly with outbreaks of rioting, units in Londonderry allowed rioters to
let off steam and for riots to run their course, so long as there were no breakthroughs into
the commercial heart of the city.!’”

The ‘softly-softly’ approach did not seem to dampen IRA violence in Londonderry.
Behind the barricades, moreover, the IRA could recruit and train at leisure. At the end of
1971, it was decided that a tougher line was called for in dealing with the security
problems in the city. This led to the Bloody Sunday incident of January 1972.
Paratroopers brought in from Belfast to help police a march shot dead 14 civilians, none
of whom could be proved to have been handling weapons. The fallout from this incident
was immense. Troops were removed from the streets all over the Province as the Army
adopted a low-profile that would not exacerbate tensions. Direct rule came into force in
March 1972 as the UK government in Westminster had finally tired of the leadership in
Stormont.

Chronology

1921 Independence for the South of Ireland.

1968 Growing number of Civil Rights marches. Many end in riots.

1969

14 August Rioting in Londonderry. Government orders troops onto streets of
Northern Ireland.

October B Specials dishanded and police disarmed. Protestant riots as result.
First policeman killed. First time troops are fired on.

December PIRA breaks away from OIRA.

176 Charters (1977) p.24
7 The brigade in Belfast, 38 Bde, was commanded by the well-known counter-insurgency expert, Brig.
Frank Kitson. Taylor, p.83
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1970

2 June Riots on Falls Road. Army use of CS gas.

31 October First British soldier killed (by PIRA).

1971

9 August Internment introduced.

1972

30 January Bloody Sunday. Fourteen civilians shot dead by troops.
24 March Direct rule of Northern Ireland established from London.

Defence Lines of Devleopment
Training

The Army had long experience of dealing with riot or IS situations. Thus, when it looked
likely in the late 1960s that units would be deployed onto the streets of Northern Ireland,
the only problem appeared to be that the riots would be on the streets of the UK. Troops,
in particular, could not adopt the normal routine of shooting a single ringleader in a riot —
‘pour encourager les autres’.*”® They would have to be more restrained.

Units stationed in Northern Ireland in the late 1960s could see which way the wind was
blowing. As early as March 1968, a full 18 months before actually deployment, some
battalions began riot training at the instigation of their COs (for instance, 1 Light Infantry
at Ballykinler).1”® Any infantry battalion in the Army could carry out such training at unit
level. They would have NCOs with many years’ experience of riot situations and they
had, moreover, a manual, Keeping the Peace, Vol 11.*¥® There was neither, however, a
dedicated urban-warfare manual nor an urban-warfare training area in the UK at this
time.

When serious violence broke out and more battalions were being called on for service in
Northern Ireland, the problem was one of mission priorities. Many units had to come
from Germany where their role was mechanised infantry. Other units were dedicated to
jungle fighting, Arctic warfare, the air portable role, or public duties (drill), and had to
put aside their normal training. Those units in Germany chosen to go to Ulster lacked
proper training facilities: they would be forced to improvise by using forest tracks to

178 During 1970, a petrol bomber was shot dead in Londonderry. The furore this caused led to the issuing to
every soldier of a Yellow Card, which detailed when it was lawful to open fire.

1% Deane-Drummond (1993), p.25. All names given refer to battalion-size units commanded by a
lieutenant-colonel.

180 Even as recently as the 1960s, battalions would have had experience of riot control in recent hotspots
such as Hong Kong, Guyana, Maritius, Borneo and Aden.
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represent streets and hanging white tape from trees to signify houses. Initially, there were
no visits or pre-deployment instruction from outside the unit, which instead had to
imagine what the situation would be like and what tactics would be required. Other units,
prior to deployment, would spend about ten days training for urban-warfare skills in their
own barracks. In order to act in the infantry role in Northern Ireland, non-infantry units
(artillery, armour, engineers, logistics, ordnance, etc.) were deemed to require about ten
weeks training prior to deployment.

While there was no formal means of informing incoming battalions of the situation in
Northern Ireland, the small-scale nature of the Army and the close-knit officer corps
allowed for an information conduit. Personal relationships between COs were not
uncommon and quick briefs by telephone could be conducted.'® Occasionally, however,
this worked the other way; the regimental system encouraged battalions to be competitive
with one another and occasionally useful information was not passed on.*?

Units which had sister battalions could swap personnel so as to maintain levels of
experience. For instance, in March 1971, the 21C of 1Light Infantry remained behind in
Northern Ireland as his own battalion moved out. He then became the 2IC of the newly
arriving 3 Light Infantry.'®®

Often, though, the degree of notice to be sent to Northern Ireland was woeful. One Corps
of Transport unit in Germany was given ten days’ notice to move to the Province while
all its members were on leave. They were supposed to train on the new Saracen armoured
car. As there was only one such vehicle in Germany, each man in the unit had only 20
minutes driving-time prior to deployment. The next time they were to drive the same
model was in Northern Ireland as part of Operation Motorman (28 July 1972), on
unfamiliar streets where there were no streetlights (all shot out), during night, in heavy
rain and in vehicles which were closed down! It was a miracle that these drivers did not
inflict great damage or cause deaths. One infantry battalion in Germany had three days’
notice to deploy to Northern Ireland, again while its soldiers were away on leave.

The very earliest units going to Northern Ireland were given a briefing pack which
contained lists of suitable background reading material of a general nature and the reports
from some study periods. Later a booklet was produced, ‘Notes on Northern Ireland’.

By early 1972, training for Northern Ireland had become more formalised with the
creation of a training package by HQ UK Land Forces and NITAT (Northern Ireland

181 British Army officers tend to come from the same backgrounds — same small stable of high-schools and
universities and, by the 1960s, one officer-training establishment (Sandhurst). Most COs would personally
know the COs of other battalions. See, for instance, Alex Alexandrou, Richard Bartle & Richard Holmes
(eds), Human Resource Management in the British Armed Forces (London: Frank Cass, 2001); Hew
Strachan, (ed.), The British Army: Manpower and Society into the Twenty-First Century (London: Frank
Cass, 2000).

182 See, for instance, Correlli Barnett, Britain and Her Army: 1509-1970: A Military, Political and Social
Survey (New York: William Morrow, 1970), pp.278, 306; Henry Stanhope, The Soldiers: An Anatomy of
the British Army (London: Hamish Hamilton, 1979), p.28.

183 Deane-Drummond (1993), p.51

56 of 246



Part 11

Training and Advisory Team). A team would visit units (whether in Germany or the UK)
about to be posted to Northern Ireland and provide a few days of briefings and training.
An urban close-quarter battle range and a ‘tin city’ (to practise patrol techniques) were
built at Hythe in Kent (opened 1 April 1972), both of which resembled the Belfast city-
scape. Training courses for officers in IS drills were now also available. These were
especially important for officers from non-infantry regiments. Other courses, covering
IED and booby-trap recognition, were run in Northern Ireland and then later on the
mainland.

Equipment

Troops originally arrived in 1969 with bayonets fixed, but soon realised that this was too
aggressive. They also wore full webbing, but this could be grabbed in riot situations and
only the belt and ammunition pouches were therefore retained. The troops started with
‘no batons, no baton guns, no shields, just CS gas’.*®* The problems with CS gas have
already been discussed and its use was discontinued in 1971. The use of helmets
discontinued after a few weeks. Berets or glengarries (or whatever soft headdress) were
worn — even when under fire. The Army had to look like a police force.

Shortages in equipment were soon made up for and some minor improvements were
made. Within a year of ‘the Troubles’ starting,*®* normal four-foot riot shields had been
replaced by far more effective six-foot ones. The original respirator that was prone to
misting up was replaced by an improved model. Baton guns were made available. Water-
cannon trucks (four per battalion) proved ineffective and their use was discontinued after
a couple of years.'®

Tracked vehicles could obviously not be used in a domestic urban environment and so
wheeled armoured vehicles such as the Saracen and the Pig (Humber 1-ton, which were
rescued from various scrap heaps and were in a “sorry state’*®”) were put into service.
Noisy Saracens were preferred to the quieter Pigs as they were more intimidating. Pigs
could however be fitted with *wings’ that could deploy outwards to act as screens behind
which troops could shelter during riots. The venerable Pig was however liable to
breakdown, particularly when the extra weight of armour and anti-RPG wire mesh were
added.

VHF A41 radios of the Larkspur range could only work in certain parts of the urban
environment. They were also bulky. By 1972, UHF Motorola-style (Pye) radios provided
much better communications. These, however, were insecure. This meant that a good
deal of time was spent using codewords and phrases that sometimes slowed down
message transfers.

184 Arthur, Northern Ireland: Soldiers Talking (London: Sidgewick and Jackson, 1987), p.12

185 The conflict in Northern Ireland is normally referred to as ‘The Troubles’, see Chalfont
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Troops initially suffered from a lack of good maps (resulting in the use of photocopies of
maps bought from local service stations). The very useful coloured ‘tribal’ map (which
marked Protestant and Catholic areas in orange and green) took only a few weeks to
appear.'®

No heavy weapons were employed in urban areas. The RUC had once fired some 0.3
Browning machine-guns in August 1969, but the rounds killed two people in a block of
flats nearby (including a boy asleep in his bedroom — the round having passed through
two brick walls). A police station two miles away was also hit and the police there
thought that they were under attack. It was the last time a machinegun was fired by
security forces in an urban area (though the IRA did employ M-60s).*%

Very few helicopters (2-3) were initially available until the autumn of 1971. Regardless,
no suitable role could be identified for the helicopters and demand was therefore limited.
COs ffglg better being in HQs surrounded by their own staffs rather than hovering
above.

Personnel

During this period, troop numbers in the Province increased from an initial 2,500 to 8,500
in 1970 and to 10,000 in early 1971. For Operation Motorman in July 1972, numbers
peaked at 23,000.%* (Northern Ireland holds a population of 1.6m in an area of 5,000 sq
miles). A lack of numbers did, on occasion, have strategic consequences. Outnumbered
soldiers resorted more readily to excesses in the use of force; as one officer put it,
‘minimum force requires maximum numbers’.*®? At other times, the lack of numbers
meant that the IRA was able to step into the breach and thus gain popular support.

Evidence suggests that soldiers proved themselves “very good’ at community relations
and initially tried hard to integrate with locals. While this may be true on the whole, there
is another side to this story: several works written from the Irish side note that many
soldiers were ‘racist’ in their treatment of the Irish population. There is a long-held
English belief that the Irish are ‘stupid’ and this cultural stereotype seems to have
affected the attitude of many soldiers toward the local people. As troops tended not to act
in such a way in front of officers, a false impression may have been created regarding the
relation between soldiers and locals. The IRA would nonetheless feed off such
misbehaviour.*®?
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Initially, officers would take it upon themselves to conduct negotiations with both sides —
there was no-one else to do it, the Army were on their own. Battalion officers were very
quick to act on their own initiative. The Peace Line or ‘Irish Berlin Wall’ in Belfast
(which is still there today) between Catholic and Protestant areas was constructed on the
orders of local battalion commanders in 1969. Talking to representatives of the IRA also
generated fresh intelligence on the movers and shakers within the organisation. But
officers needed support for what they were doing. For instance, Freeland was muzzled by
the MoD when he started making comments about helping the lot of the Catholic
community. He realised that the Army could not maintain its good relations with the
Catholics in the absence of some political changes to support what the troops were doing
on the ground.***

The Army was probably at its best ever in terms of IS situations in the mid- to late-1960s.
With the end of conscription in 1962, the Army had by that time been reduced to a very
professional hard-core of soldiers, many of whom would have experience from many
different post-War IS situations.'*

Information

The goal of the first military intelligence unit set up in Ulster in March 1970 was to
investigate Protestant rather than Catholic extremists. However, IRA’s 1971 bombing
campaign shifted the Army’s attention.*®

In the early months, there was little cooperation between the police and Army (at low
levels, however, there are many reports of a reasonable relationship — policemen would
be living in Army barracks and vice-versa). Police Special Branch (somewhat equivalent
to the FBI) was especially wary of sharing information with the Army. Special Branch
was in Northern Ireland for the long haul and did not want to share information with
Army battalions, which would only be in the Province for a 4%-month tour (see below).
The temptation among Army officers was to use the available information to make a
quick impact — arrests, weapons finds, etc. — and receive immediate credit. The police did
not want to risk sources for a few arrests or the odd find of a rifle; they therefore kept
things to themselves, vying instead for long-term benefits. This is not to say that there
was no cooperation between Special Branch and the Army, but it was limited.
Intelligence Corps personnel were seconded to Special Branch but without seemingly
making much of an impact.®’

has always been more pronounced than in any other Western army. British officers tend to have very little
idea how those in the ranks are behaving when they, the officers, are absent.
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As the Army alone was present on the streets of “hard’ Catholic areas, it was uniquely
placed to pick up snippets of information. Initially, however, the Army did not place
much emphasis on intelligence, as it regarded itself as a peacekeeping rather a
counterinsurgency force. But to keep the peace effectively, the Army soon realised it
needed to know what was going on. In order to be an effective police force, most
battalions thus went about building up their own intelligence database. The vast majority
of information would be gathered from overt foot patrols. The normal means of gaining
information about an area would be to ‘p-check’ (personality-check) people on the streets
— i.e. random stopping and interrogation of individuals as they went about their business.
Door-to-door censuses were also conducted by soldiers. The Army gradually built up a
system of informers who would accompany patrols, hidden in the backs of vehicles, and
point out ‘players’ on streets. (After direct rule was introduced, the Army momentarily
kept off the streets and obtained its most of its intelligence from deep-cover operations).

The Army was thus merely scratching the intelligence surface. By 1971, when trouble
began in earnest, the Army had substantial local intelligence but no real intelligence base,
which reduced the scope for effective action. Meanwhile, the Loyalists were demanding
some form of action. The Army, under pressure, did act and the only — and clumsy —
thing it could do was to go through with Internment. Added to the problems caused by
Internment itself was the furore over the North Korean interrogation methods used
against some detainees. These were not authorised by the head of the Army.*® In fact,
these techniques were so sensitive that they were never written down but merely passed
on verbally at the UK’s interrogation centre. No physical abuse was involved, but rather
sensory deprivation. The methods were effective, however.'*

Even though Northern Ireland was part of the UK, the external security service — MI16 (or
SIS) — was working in the Province and had good intelligence about the old IRA. The
new PIRA, however, was a mystery. Two MI6 operatives, Howard Smith (later to
become head of MI5 — the domestic security service) and Frank Steele (to be replaced
later by Michael Oatley) were brought into the Province in late 1971. They were to do a
lot of negotiating with the IRA.2%

MI5 and MI6 had different approaches to the problem, which prompted Scotland Yard -
who had sent anti-terrorist representatives to the Province — to complain ‘bitterly” about
their lack of cooperation. MI5, which had experience in facing communist insurgencies,
was more interested in the Marxist Official IRA. MI6 was more interested in the
Provisionals and saw them as the more dangerous threat.”®*

The Army thus had good low-level intelligence from their patrols, and MI16/MI5 had
good strategic-level intelligence (especially from two informers near the top of PIRA),

1% Michael Carver, Out of Step: The Memoirs of Field Marshal Lord Carver (London: Hutchinson, 1989),
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60 of 246



Part 11

but there really appeared to be nothing in between to provide workable operational
intelligence.

In attempting to protect its soldiers, the Army was often caught distorting the truth when
commenting on various incidents to the media (and thus to the people of Northern
Ireland). At other times, the Army made no comment on IRA false claims about
‘brutality’, etc., because they felt that ‘the truth will come out naturally’. They thus let the
propaganda settle and did not refute it; much to their loss.?%* Virtually all battalion reports
of this period state that there was a distinct need for them to have their own Public
Relations Officer (PRO); particularly one who could tell the media the truth and was not
overly protective of the Army. A PRO was ‘a vital operational requirement’. Just one
untruth given out by the Army meant an overall lack of trust and confidence.

The public relations programme was stepped up at Army HQ at the end of 1971, with the
establishment of an information policy cell. This was a ‘PR think tank which studied
trends in reporting and tried to keep one step ahead in the propaganda war’.?® Very early
in the campaign, a team from the Army’s media centre at Beaconsfield would visit units
to instruct them in TV interview techniques.®* The Army was however still to make a
huge mistake in the immediate aftermath of Bloody Sunday (January 1972) by claiming
that all those shot by the Army were members of the IRA.

One of the crucial missing links in the Army’s PSYOPS campaign was the fact that,
before direct rule, there was no policy into which it could all fit.”®> Moreover, PSYOPS
could only be conducted at unit level. Because it was part of the UK, any overall
PSYOPS campaign could only be directed by the government and not by the military.?®

With operational areas sometimes being very small, a battalion orders group could take
place with all company commanders walking to the O Group site.

Initially, information was primarily being gathered from overt patrolling (the basic patrol
group then consisted of 12 men and was only later reduced to the more flexible four-man
unit in use today). Only later did the Army look more towards covert intelligence-
gathering. This period saw the Army make a slow start in terms of creating an
information advantage over the IRA. To begin with the Army and the IRA were ‘allies’,
at least to a degree. Meanwhile, the police were not passing on information, MI5 and MI16
were not in a position to pass on anything useful, and the Army was caught unawares by
the radicalisation of the PIRA, which led to the bombing campaign of 1971. The inability
to stop the bombing campaign (and thus the admission that the enemy had the
information advantage) prompted the introduction of Internment. From a position of
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weakness caused by the lack of both numbers and intelligence, the Army was left with no
alternative but to take part in an operation that most knew would be counterproductive.

Doctrine and Concepts

While there was an IS manual, Keeping the Peace, Vol Il and various 1S Pamphlets,?®’
doctrine was not considered necessary for Northern Ireland since ‘the British Army had
an identifiable method for dealing with “small wars” which was accepted by and
disseminated through the Army’.?®® As one lieutenant put it, ‘it was the sort of rushed,
primitive approach: we’d done it in Aden...so we’d do it in Belfast’.*® As David
Charters adds, ‘Commanders traditionally were allowed a fair degree of latitude in the
formulation of strategy, execution of policy and devising of tactics for local situations. A
certain independent habit of mind was both required and permitted”.**° Officers just got
on with keeping the peace.?*

The confidence behind this approach came from “habit’. Many in the Army felt that given
the experience of soldiers and battalions, habit would produce ‘sound judgment and the
power of discrimination’. Habit, it was felt, would enable gambles to be taken, even if
information is lacking, because soldiers know from experience what is and is not likely to
come off.”*? This philosophy may have worked to a degree and probably helps explain
the proactive nature of what the Army was doing. However, it cannot possibly work in all
places and all of the time.

Since there was no doctrine and since the teaching of counterinsurgency (COIN) in
military colleges was ‘rudimentary’, troops just did as they saw fit.*** Battalions realised
that to be effective they would often have to adopt unconventional measures; in essence,
to employ the same tactics as their opponents. This led to different battalions adopting
their own novel policing/COIN techniques. But this individuality of battalions limited the
cross-fertilisation of ideas, particularly as there was initially neither a central training
establishment that all battalions attended nor a centralised ‘lessons learned’ capacity.
Different units thus learnt different lessons and approached situations differently. What
aided this “difference’ was the fact that the Army had been given no political goal to
work towards — no centralising drive. The Army thus had their tried and trusted approach,
which they felt could have worked if there had been some overall strategy into which it
could fit. There was none.”* The Army was aware, though, that it was ‘fighting a
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campaign where the political side-effects of the use of force could grossly outweigh any
direct military benefits”.**

Experiences were initially passed on within the Army through informal communications
between outgoing and incoming officers to the Province. Study sessions took place at
senior levels. Other experienced officers were used as instructors once NITAT was
established and the urban CQB range at Hythe was operational. The Army, though, had
no real means of gathering written experiences. Battalions did write post-operational tour
reports which circulated within Germany and at HQs in the UK, but these were not filed
for long. They were only kept for posterity from 1971 onwards, when a tactical doctrine
retrieval centre was opened at the Staff College ‘to provide a central repository of papers
and studies useful for professional development’.*®

There were actually very few operational experiences committed to print in military
journals since Northern Ireland was considered to be nothing out of the ordinary and
therefore unworthy of space in such publications.

In the early months, troops were as dispersed as possible to ensure that they were always
able to react quickly to any situation. Soldiers slept on streets and in such
‘accommodation’ as public lavatories and local schools. At certain points, vehicle patrols
had to be discontinued because of the level of petrol bombing (petrol bombers were
rarely shot and when they were the public outcry was enormous). Thus on occasion there
were foot patrols only.?"’

Soldiers were constantly thwarted by the fact that they were acting under UK ‘Common
Law’ and had taken over the role of policing. This meant that they could only act when a
crime had been committed and could take no proactive action, such as roadblocks, house
searches, etc. This was later cleared up by the Special Powers Act.

Organisation

Disorganisation rather than organisation defines the early months of the Northern Ireland
campaign. The de facto separation of all three interest groups — Army, police, civil
administrators — led to ‘three different campaigns’ being conducted simultaneously.?*®
Indeed, there was no civil-affairs representative until September 1971 when a single
civil-affairs civil servant came to Belfast. Soon, however, there was one at the level of
each police division.”*® But the police divisions did not mesh with the Army’s brigade
boundaries, which was inevitably to cause some confusion.??
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The length of tours for battalions was an issue. In 1969, there were two resident
battalions (two-year tours), with other battalions coming in for 4% months (roulement
battalions).??* Tours were kept this short to maintain morale and normal training cycles
(especially for the mechanised battalions from Germany). Moreover, a battalion returning
to Northern Ireland every 8-10 months for another 4%-month tour would not have to
engage in any training prior to redeployment. Thus battalions in Germany could be given,
at times of increased tension, only three days notice to return to the Province — even
during leave periods! However, the lack of continuity afforded by a 4%-month tour
affected operational capabilities — especially intelligence-gathering. Partly for this reason,
roulement battalions were paired with neighbouring resident battalions to help encourage
an exchange of information.??> Moreover, the first four weeks of a 4%-month tour would
be spent getting to know the area and its people. This would leave six weeks for
productive activity after which a sense of self-preservation would set in and little of
worth would be accomplished.?® Staff at brigade level were on two-year tours, which
helped maintain continuity.

The Army, being short of infantry, re-roled other units as infantry in Northern Ireland:
artillery, armour, logistics, etc. The first two soldiers killed in Northern Ireland (Belfast —
February 1971) were both gunners (as were the first two soldiers killed in Londonderry —
August 1971). Some artillery units appear to have been used in preference to available
infantry battalions.?*

Infrastructure

Troops were initially accommodated in an ad hoc fashion — in police stations, community
centres, hallways of civic buildings, in hangars of a Royal Naval Air Station, in buses in
Londonderry bus station, in tents, and in schools (during the holidays). Later the Army
took over large buildings such as mills (sometimes still working), which could hold entire
battalions. A submarine depot ship, HMS Maidstone, in Belfast harbour also provided
accommodation. In Londonderry, a naval base became the main barracks (for two-year
tours). Other purpose-built “forts” were later constructed in the two big cities. Space in
general would be at a premium, with three-bed bunks often placed in lines only 18” apart.
However, the short length of the 4%-month tours (or even shorter ‘emergency tours' —
sometimes only amounting to a few days) helped compensate for the poor standards of
accommodation. Troops were also required to guard radio rebroadcast sites. The police
refused to do such tasks since it perceived the Army as having assumed such
responsibilities as part of its takeover of police functions.””®

There was a lack of suitable accommodation for prisoners. Troops could not arrest as
many suspects as they would have liked because there were very few places to hold them.
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HMS Maidstone was used for a time as a prison ship. Long Kesh was also built as a site
to hold Internees.

Logistics

Logistics were not a major problem given the size of the Province and the proximity to
bases of operations. Few battalions in the urban areas (which were the focus of operations
in this particular period) strayed much more than a few hundred metres from their
barracks. Ammunition re-supply was never an issue since rounds — both baton and ball -
were never fired excessively. But the use of old, wheeled vehicles (such as the Pig) led to
maintenance problems and a lack of spare parts. When water cannon were used, they
tended to run out of water and were difficult to refill.

Information and Networked Flow of Material and Awareness

The gathering of information was considered crucial to the Army’s mission in Northern
Ireland.??® 1S training had always reflected this premise: of the ‘five main aspects of
internal security operations’ the first one listed was ‘the methods of obtaining, recording,

analyzing and disseminating information and intelligence’.?’

Originally the only outsider who had access to RUC Special Branch information was the
prime minister of Northern Ireland himself.?*® Later, though, Special Branch gave
information/intelligence to HQ Northern Ireland and the Army then passed it down to
brigade and then battalion level. Naturally, since information is power, much was held
onto at different levels. Brig. Kitson (at 38 Bde) wanted Special Branch to pass
information straight to battalion Intelligence Cells, as they would often share bases and
messes.””® While the offices of the RUC and the battalion Intelligence Cell may be
adjacent, they were never actually co-located given the sensitivity regarding the sharing
of information. Often battalions, though, would report very good relations with both
uniformed police and Special Branch. There was a tendency for the police to look down
on the battalion intelligence officers as being unprofessional — they were, after all,
infantry officers given a slot in their own battalion’s orbat. This, again, limited the flows
of information.

The IRA would play on the lack of intelligence. They would leak false information to
Army sources so that they would arrest the wrong people. Such blunders suited the IRA
since they generated a bad feeling between battalions and local communities. Conversely,
the IRA generally resented the good community relations built up by battalions; bad
relations with the Army meant better relations with the IRA.
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Most battalion reports of this period point to the need for not just a battalion Intelligence
Cell but also one at company level. Indeed, some battalions put forward the idea that
certain groups of soldiers should do nothing but patrols, i.e. no static guards, vehicle
checkpoints, etc. These would be the soldiers who would get to know everyone on the
streets and provide the bulk of the information to the company/battalion intelligence
people. From here intelligence was passed to brigade. Brigade would then pass on
information to the police at their level though the police co-located with the battalion
would also get the same information.

Battalions used cameras to obtain a photographic database of the local population. The
best way of photographing civilians was to ‘arrest’ people and take them to a barracks,
but to do so ‘nicely’ — with cups of tea, etc. An intelligence database could then be built
up with the photos also being sent up the information chain. Once ‘arrested’” and taken
out of the public eye, certain individuals would speak to the Army more openly. This
method was also tried with wide-ranging house searches. If the searches were conducted
with care and no damage done, soldiers found that, when unobserved, people in the
houses would offer information. They could not do this if stopped on the streets; through
fear of the IRA, they had to make it look as if they hated the Army.

Aurrests and house searches also had to make use of the tactic of ‘randomness’. If an arrest
of an individual takes place or just one house is searched, it appears to local communities
that someone must have given specific information to the authorities and it would not be
difficult to work out the source of the tip-off. If, however, many arrests are made or many
houses searched (when only one is in fact being targeted), the discovery of a suspect or of
a weapons cache appears incidental rather than planned. On the other hand, a fair degree
of ill-will is generated by large numbers of arrests or house searches.

Outgoing units would brief their incoming replacement on the information picture in the
Province. Elements (i.e. recce parties) of the incoming battalion would visit the departing
battalion beginning some 6-10 weeks before the changeover. The actual handover would
be conducted during a three-day period when the best part of both battalions would be in
situ and information could be shared basically on a one-to-one basis.

Perceptions of Quality of Information and Networking (Measures of Information
Position)

Depending on the battalion — and its distinctive approach — the reports on the information
received from police sources range from poor to very good. This also tended to depend
on the quality of the policemen attached to battalions. The battalions, not surprisingly,
tended to trust the quality of information generated by its own members — but only to a
point. There appears to be a tendency to trust information from higher formations and the
police, but little, of course, comes down to battalions. The information from MI5/MI6

66 of 246



Part 11

was good for strategic purposes, but was of no real use on the ground. Such information
will not lead to arrests, which was what battalions aimed for.

Incoming battalions generally trusted the information received from the Province, either
via personal contacts and later through formal training packages.

Patterns of Operational Success/Failure in Relation to Information/Networking
(Measures of Decision Superiority)

The network ensured that officers at all levels understood the general situation. It had
always been drummed into them from colonial days that what they do at the tactical level
can have strategic repercussions.

Battalions — and it was basically battalions both gathering and acting on information in
this period — showed agility in intelligence-gathering. From sending soldiers dressed in
plain clothes, to the contacts established in bars and pubs, and the ensconcing of soldiers
in the roofs of people’s houses, the battalions were generating their own information,
which they then acted on and sent up the chain. Very little information was coming the
other way from on high (MI6/Special Branch).

There was a tension between the Army wanting to take action and achieve ‘successes’
and the fact that in doing so they might destroy relationships and hinder overall
intelligence-gathering. As one major in 1 King’s Own Scottish Borderers put it, “there
was always a conflict between the short-term military goal, which could always be

achieved, and the cost in the longer term’.*°

For much of this period the IRA was not the ‘enemy’ and information was not gathered to
use against it. The fact that the situation changed so rapidly from one of ‘alliance’ to one
of opposition caught the Army off-guard vis-a-vis the gathering of intelligence. When the
bombing campaign of 1971 started, the Army was well behind the curve in attempting to
prevent it. It simply did not have sufficient information. The amount that can be picked
up off the streets is limited and that coming down from higher up is unsuitable. M15/M16
might pick up on general strategies but could not identify the associated individuals. In
attempting to stop the bombing, the need for more information was considered secondary
to getting possible bombers off the streets. This latter approach — Internment — backfired,
but it did usher in an era of less amateurish covert intelligence-gathering that proved
more effective than relying on those used hitherto. It did prove effective, however, only
in the long term. Once troops were off the streets, the Army lost any pretence of
information dominance. No information was coming in and there was no pressure on the
terrorists. Moreover, Internment had created a whole new batch of PIRA recruits who
were completely unknown to the Army, which had not been around to monitor events.?*

220 Arthur, p.65
31 Charters (1977) p.24
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Evaluation of the Information and Networking Contribution to the Outcomes of the
Operation (Measures of Campaign Effectiveness)

The personal networking contribution within the Army itself appears to have worked
well. The main failings on the networking front appear at the government-Army and
police-Army interface. Armies cannot conduct IS/COIN missions without a deep
interaction with the civilian masters who set the agenda. Armies also cannot conduct
IS/ICOIN missions when they lack both numbers and intelligence. Numbers can make up
for a lack of intelligence, and good intelligence can make up for a lack of numbers; but
when both factors are in deficit, the outlook will always be bleak. The Army had always,
in most previous colonial IS situations, looked to use the information provided by the
police. There was no real networking to speak of between the police, who resented the
presence of the Army and their ephemeral commitment to the Province, and the soldiers.
There was a fundamental clash of aims. The police basically wanted long-term success
and did not want to risk their information on the type of short-term gains that appeared to
be favoured by the Army.

The Army adopted more intelligence-gathering mechanisms following direct rule, when
troops were taken off the streets. This leads on to successes later in the 1970s and 1980s.
However, during that initial period when the troops were off the streets, PIRA had the
luxury of being able to organise itself. It was not under pressure or under surveillance.
PIRA was seen as a ‘proper’ security body by local people because it — and not the Army
—was in charge in the *hard’ Catholic areas.

Allowing the IRA to dominate the propaganda war was to prove counterproductive. The
PSYOPS effort was woeful. The mistakes the Army made could not be rectified because
a suitably professional information campaign had not been put in place. PIRA did not
really need to gain information about the Army and its doings; it merely had to wait for
Army mistakes. PIRA seldom had to make outright efforts to gain the support of the
Catholic population. They merely waited for a tipping point to be reached whereby the
Army would, by its own actions, make itself so unpopular that people would naturally
turn to PIRA as an acceptable alternative. The longer it waited, the better it looked.?*? It
needs be said that virtually all of the Army’s failings in this period can be put down to the
lack of troop numbers. In 1970, the Army did not have mass; nor did it have an effective
information campaign to counter the setbacks caused by this lack of mass. It all
snowballed badly from there.

It should have been relatively easy to compromise IRA once it had started its bombing
campaign in 1971. PIRA, after all, was a relatively weak and unprofessional organisation.
It did not become professional, with a proper “cell’ structure, until the late 1970s under
the stewardship of Gerry Adams.?

%2 O’Doherty, pp.65-68
% ibid., p.122
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The robustness of the networks developed in this period was compromised by the short-
tour nature of postings. This problem was partly addressed by the presence of ‘two-year
personnel’ in places like Bde HQs and as resident battalions.
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Case Study 3 - Northern Ireland (1972-1976): The Army
Takes Control - Dr Warren Chin

Historical Sketch of Operation
Historical Sketch

In this period, the Army continued to take the lead in trying to reverse the deteriorating
security situation in the Province. This transfer in responsibility from the police to the
Army was caused in part by the moral and organisational collapse of the RUC in the
opening phase of the conflict. The position of the Army was legitimised by the Hunt
Report, published in October 1969, which argued that the Army should take charge of the
protection of the Province.

The Army had three core aims: the destruction of the IRA; the establishment of a secure
environment within the Province; and the prevention of a Protestant insurrection.’
However, at this time, the political and strategic context of the campaign was
fundamentally affected by the suspension of government in Northern Ireland and the
imposition of direct rule from London in March 1972. Within this broader context, the
Army devised new strategies and tactics to defeat the IRA or at least contain it, and by
late 1974, the Army believed that it had achieved its mission and that the IRA was a spent
force. However, the introduction of a ceasefire in 1975 prevented the Army from
realising its goal. Frustratingly, no political solution was found and as a result the conflict
continued until a new ceasefire was agreed upon in 1993. This case study provides an
interesting snapshot of the British Army at work and provides some unexpected insights
in terms of the Army’s acquisition, processing and exploitation of information in the
counterinsurgency campaign against the IRA.

The Labour Government (1966-70) had maintained a consistent position of non-
intervention in the political apparatus of the state of Northern Ireland. At the time the
troubles began, both the Prime Minister, Harold Wilson and his Home Secretary, Jim
Callaghan, believed that the deployment of the British Army was a temporary measure
and that once order had been restored a political solution would be found. The entry of a
new Conservative government in the summer of 1970 did not result in a significant
change in attitude on this matter, but events within the Province over the next two years
were to bring about a fundamental re-think.

By spring 1972 the Protestant-dominated Stormont government’s inept conduct of the
war was more than evident, not least in terms of the mounting levels of violence and the
deteriorating political and security situation within the Province. Despite the best efforts
of central government to contain the problem, and optimistic expectations that a local

! Lt-Col Michael Dewar, The British Army in Northern Ireland (Arms and Armour Press, London, 1985),
p.135
¢ Desmond Hamil, Pig In The Middle (London: Methuen, 1985), p.69

73 of 246



Part 11

solution could be found to resolve the dispute between the Catholic and Protestant
communities, it became evident that the government of Northern Ireland was actually an
integral part of the problem. After some two years of civil war, all that had been achieved
was the alienation of a large segment of the Catholic minority and the rise of both
Protestant and Catholic paramilitary organisations. Confronted by this deteriorating
situation, the Conservative government decided in March 1972 to suspend the Northern
Ireland government in Stormont and impose direct rule. Northern Ireland was now to be
administered from Whitehall and the newly created Northern Ireland Office, which was
led by the Secretary of State for Northern Ireland, William Whitelaw.

The introduction of direct rule was interpreted as a victory for the IRA’s campaign of
violence and convinced its leadership that the ‘Brits’ were on the verge of defeat. In an
attempt to capitalise on this development, IRA introduced a ceasefire and asked to meet
government representatives to discuss a political solution to the problems of Northern
Ireland. These talks involved Secretary of State William Whitelaw in face-to-face
negotiations with key elements of the IRA leadership but failed to produce a meaningful
settlement. What became very clear was how far apart the two sides were on what to do
to end the conflict.

The IRA, convinced as it was that the British were demoralised, demanded the
withdrawal of British forces and the creation of a United Ireland. From the perspective of
the British government, these demands were unacceptable simply because they
contravened the expressed wishes of the majority of the people living within the Province
to remain part of the United Kingdom. As a result, the Province once again descended
into an even more brutal phase of violence, as the IRA attempted to coerce the British
government into accepting its demands. The IRA’s bombing campaign climaxed with the
detonation of 26 bombs in Belfast on 21 July 1972. The carnage caused by this act was so
awful that the day came to be called ‘Bloody Friday’. Eleven people were killed and over
130 people were injured.®

The response of the British government to this violence was to establish ‘escalation
dominance’ over the IRA by concentrating the largest force ever assembled in the history
of the conflict. Operation Motorman resulted in the deployment of nearly 30,000 British
troops to remove barricades erected by the Catholic population and restore control of
what had effectively become no-go areas in Belfast and Londonderry. These sanctuaries
had been tolerated by the government as a demonstration of good faith to the IRA.
However, the collapse of negotiations and the instigation of Bloody Friday convinced
Whitelaw to take actions against these zones of IRA-controlled territory within the
British state.*

The government proceeded to mobilise political support within Northern Ireland for a
new fairer and more representative system of government for the Province. In November
1972, Whitelaw published a discussion paper: The Future of Northern Ireland. The
document advanced two notable proposals. The first was an acknowledgement that

® David McKittrick & David McVea, Making Sense of the Troubles (London: Penguin, 2001), pp.76-97
* William Whitelaw, The Whitelaw Memoirs (London: Aurum Press, 1989)
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Dublin had a legitimate interest in Northern Ireland and that any future government
needed to recognise this fact. The second was the rejection of simple majority rule as a
basis for creating a government. A future government in Northern Ireland had to
recognise the interests of the minority elements within society. Subsequent negotiations
between the major political parties over the future constitution for a new government
culminated in the Sunningdale Agreement in December 1973. This agreement established
a cross-border governmental body called the Council of Ireland and created a government
elected on the basis of proportional representation.

The governmental structures created by Sunningdale were effectively stillborn. The
majority of the Protestant population opposed Sunningdale and in national elections held
in February 1974, all but one of the seats at Westminster were won by Protestant parties
opposed to the implementation of the agreement. Opposition to the new government
spread throughout the Protestant community and in the early summer of 1974 a series of
strikes, organised by the Ulster Workers Council (UWC), brought the Province to a
standstill. Through this campaign, the Protestant community demonstrated the power that
stemmed from forming the majority of the population and having a monopoly on the key
jobs. The government proved unable to deal with this strike in a direct and robust fashion.
It was clear that unless the Protestant majority supported political change, no reform
could take place. Moreover, the Army saw little point in taking direct action in ending the
strike, fearing that this would escalate Protestant paramilitary action and result in the
Army fighting a two-front war. It was then hardly surprising that with no support from
central government or the security services, the new power sharing executive resigned.

Throughout the rest of 1974, the government continued talking to the paramilitaries and
to facilitate this process, the political arm of the IRA, Sinn Fein, was legalised as a
political party. Negotiations in late 1974 and early 1975 resulted in a ceasefire between
the IRA and the British government which was to last for the better part of a year.
However, this did not result in an end to the violence and the ceasefire was marred by a
rise in sectarian killings between Catholic and Protestant paramilitary groups.

Chronology

1972

March Imposition of direct rule and suspension of the Northern Ireland
government.

April Widgery Report on Bloody Sunday is published.

July IRA meets the Secretary of State for Northern Ireland, William
Whitelaw, in London to discuss political reform in Northern Ireland.
Operation Motorman launched

December Diplock Report recommends end of trial by jury in troubles-related

cases
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1973
March

June

October

November

December

1974
January

February

May

October
November
December
1975
February

March

August

The government produces a White Paper setting out the framework
for the future structure of the government of Northern Ireland
(Sunningdale Agreement).

Elections are held for the Stormont Assembly

Inter-party talks begin in the creation of a power-sharing executive
between Protestants and Catholics.

Agreement is reached on the creation of a power-sharing executive.

Debate in the Stormont Assembly on the principle of power-sharing
degenerates into violence and is terminated before a vote could be
taken. The Sunningdale Conference is held in the UK and agreement
is reached on the creation of a new executive.

Power-sharing executive takes office.

General election results in the fall of the Conservative government
and the election of a minority Labour government under Harold
Wilson.

UWC organise a national strike in Northern Ireland in protest at the
creation of the new power-sharing executive. Protestant opposition
to Sunningdale results in an escalation in Protestant terrorism in
Northern Ireland and Eire. Power-sharing agreement is shelved in
the face of Protestant opposition

IRA Guildford bombing (five killed and 54 injured).

IRA bombing in Birmingham (21 killed and 180 injured).

IRA meets with Protestant Clergy. The British government agrees to
talks with the Sinn Fein and a ceasefire is called.

The IRA announces an indefinite ceasefire

Stormont Assembly is dissolved and new elections called. Anti-
Sunningdale Unionists win a majority of the seats in the new

assembly.

Talks between Unionists and the Social Democratic and Liberal
Party break down.
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November

December

1976
January

February

March

July

August

September

October

November

December

The Ulster Volunteer Force (UVF) is banned after 11 people are
killed in UVF attacks.

Internment ends.

Six members of two Catholic families are killed by the UVF in
County Armagh; ten Protestant workers are shot at Kingsmills in
County Armagh by the IRA. Special Airborne Service (SAS) is
officially deployed to end the sectarian killings in Armagh.
Republican prisoner Frank Stagg dies in England after a 52-day
hunger strike in protest at the failure to provide political status to
IRA prisoners imprisoned in England.

Special category status for paramilitary offences comes to an end.

The British ambassador to Ireland, Christopher Ewart-Biggs is killed
by the IRA in Dublin.

Death of the three Macguire children leads to the emergence of the
non-sectarian Peace People movement.

Roy Mason replaces Merlyn Rees as Northern Ireland Secretary.

Sinn Fein Vice-President Marie Drumm is murdered by loyalists
while a patient in Belfast’s Mater hospital.

Peace People leaders Mairead Corrigan and Betty Williams are
awarded the Nobel peace prize.

The Fair Employment Act is passed, making it an offence to
discriminate in employment on religious or political grounds.

Context of Operation (Starting Conditions)

Training

It appears that only the most basic and rudimentary training was provided to units
deployed to Northern Ireland in the early 1970s, a good four years into the troubles.
Officers received exposure to counterinsurgency whilst at the Royal Military Academy
Sandhurst (RMAS), however, there was little or no exposure to anything overly
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sophisticated and the focus was mainly on riot control, which included the use of lethal
force should a riot failed to disperse.’

The Northern Ireland Training and Assistance Teams (NITAT) were created in the spring
of 1972 and set up in the UK and, more controversially, West Germany. The quality of
training offered by NITAT improved with the Army’s understanding of the IRA and
familiarity with the conflict. Interestingly, the training package included a five-day
educational programme in which soldiers learned about the history of the troubles and
principal paramilitary organisations. Training also provided a detailed brief on the
political situation in the area in which a battalion was being deployed.®

In 1972, a battalion going to Northern Ireland received training in the following areas:
photography, sniper training, weapon handling and shooting, operating in urban areas,
locating enemy snipers in an urban environment, patrolling in urban areas, manning
vehicle checkpoints, crowd control and riots, maintaining security at bases.” An area of
training that was not addressed properly in the view of some was the subject of law and
its application to soldiers on operation in the Province.?

Training in surveillance improved once the Military Reconnaissance Force (MRF) was
abolished (see below). With the creation of 14 Intelligence, all prospective candidates had
to go through a rigorous selection process, which — should they pass — was followed by a
further six-month training course.

Equipment

Whilst adequately equipped, soldiers frequently sought to supplement their kit by
purchasing decent boots that were better suited to the conditions of fighting in an urban
environment, and bergens, which were more ergonomic than the standard backpack used
with 58 webbing.’

A significant problem facing the Army in Northern Ireland at this time was its lack of
non-lethal weaponry. It did have a new plastic bullet, which was supposed to be non-
lethal but was in fact nearly as lethal as a standard 7.62mm round! There were numerous
calls for the issuing of a new rifle, something smaller and lighter than the self-loaded rifle
(SLR) and capable of firing short automatic bursts as opposed to single shots. There was
also a general request for more night-vision rifle sights like to the IWS to be made
available to battalions whilst on tour. These were invaluable when setting up sharp
shooters to cover patrols as they moved through their area.™

® Interview with Col David Benest, by KCL

¢ Hamil, p.140

"1 Kings Regiment Post Tour Report, April-August 1972
8 1 Queens Post Tour Report, January-May 1973

° Interview with Lt-Col Patrick Crowley, by KCL

19post Tour Reports
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Radio communications were also inadequate. The standard man-portable radio, the A41,
and the C4L vehicle-mounted radio both operated on VHF, which worked only
infrequently in the urban environment. Equally important, the IRA was able to listen to
radio traffic over the net.™ New UHF radios were issued to the battalions. There were,
however, some technical difficulties: the UHF radios had only three channels, which
limited the tactical flexibility of the commander, and the radios were small and easy to
steal."”” Moreover, the UHF system interfered with television reception which caused
security problems for the Army and antagonised the local population.'® It also seems that
both the IRA and Ulster Defence Association (UDA) became quite adept at jamming
Army radio signals and listening to radio communications.** There were also calls for the
issuing of throat microphones with a whisper device for covert surveillance.®> A more
basic problem was that there were insufficient numbers of pocket phones for each
battalion: the allocation in 1973 was 67 per battalion, but a minimum of 85 were needed
to ensure effective communications.'®

The telephone network was also vulnerable to bugging and it seems the IRA succeeded in
bugging the Army’s phones in Headquarter Land Forces (HQLF).

Some battalions used a device known as the Anson machine. The equipment gave a
speedy and accurate picture of the available information on a suspect and was easily
operated. Its chief benefit was that it provided a straightforward means of obtaining and
cross-referencing all information that was contained in the Personality and Vehicle cards.
Information was stored on a series of cards, known as Anson Coincidence Feature Cards,
in which holes were punched.*’

Personnel

By the time the ‘troubles’ began in the summer of 1969, the British Army was a
volunteer professional force of approximately 150,000 men. In the view of one British
Army Officer, the average British citizen who signed up had a fairly good idea of what to
expect and so too did his family. This created a soldier mindset that accepted low-
intensity conflict as an important part of what the British Army did. Because recruits
were aware of the high likelihood of a messy war before joining, there was also a fairly
high degree of tolerance towards casualties.*®

The officer corps of the Army was drawn primarily from the upper middle classes and
over 90% of Army officers had gone to public school before enlisting — usually at the age
of 18. A few officers were university graduates, but at this stage of the Army’s evolution

! Interview with Col Benest

12 2 Para Post Tour Report, March-July 1972

3 Scots Guards Post Tour Report, July-November 1972
14 40 Commando Post Action Report, June October 1972
151 Queens Post Tour Report, October-January 1973
163 Anglian Post Tour Report, March-July 1973

173 Anglian Post Tour Report, 1973

'8 Interview with Lt-Col Bob Bruce, by KCL
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they represented a small minority in the officer corps. In contrast, the rank and file were
generally recruited from the lowest socioeconomic strata of British society, though this
varied, and the technical corps tended to attract better educated candidates from working
class and lower middle class families.

The infantry generally attracted the least privileged and worst educated people. The
social complexion of the Army was complicated further by the dominance of the
regimental system. This framework for organising units created an Army dominated by
sub-cultures. Regiment recruits from a particular part of the United Kingdom and, as a
result, each has a strong regional identity and culture. Obviously, the sense of identity
amongst the Welsh, Scottish and Irish regiments was even stronger. This colourful
variation in the identity of the regimental system exerted a subtle but important effect on
the campaign. For example, a Scottish regiment recruited from Glasgow would
understand the division within Northern Ireland’s society and would probably have had a
degree of sympathy for the Protestant community. The areas from where soldiers were
recruited could also have an important effect on the degree to which a battalion
networked with the wider community. Thus, soldiers recruited from rural areas tended to
be generally quieter, more polite and deferential when interacting with the civilian
population in Northern Ireland. In contrast, regiments like the Royal Green Jackets,
which recruited in West London, were frequently perceived to be a little too cocky for the
liking of the many people in the Province.*

Adding to the already colourful complexion of the British Army in Northern Ireland,
virtually all regiments — infantry, cavalry, supply, artillery air defence, and even the RAF
Regiment — served in this theatre on a regular basis. This produced a definite variation in
the skill and competence of units involved, which must have had some effect on the
conduct of the campaign. This policy was not universally popular and there was
particular criticisms of the deployment of British Army of the Rhine (BAOR) units to
Northern Ireland, as their main focus — to train and prepare for the possibility of a major
conventzignal war in central Europe — made them less suitable for operations in Northern
Ireland.

In the view of one observer, the deployment of such units marked a turning point in the
conflict and resulted in the British letting go of a key opportunity to defeat the IRA
militarily. As he explains:

There was a time in the early 1970s when the Provisional IRA could have been
defeated militarily. That opportunity was allowed to pass and when the Army began
to rotate the British Army of the Rhine regiments through Northern Ireland the
battle became unwinnable. They had never served anywhere but peacetime West
Germany and the only thing they understood was Army bullshit: spit, polish, forms
idents, parades and unproductive training.*

9 Interview with Lt-Col Crowley

01 Queens Post Tour Report, 1972

1 Ken Conner, Ghost Force: The Secret History of the SAS (London: Weidenfeld & Nicholson, 1998),
p.199
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Within this period, this comprehensive commitment of forces to Northern Ireland was
driven by two pressures. The first was the pervasive need to ensure that the rotation of
battalions allowed for a sufficient gap for rest, recuperation and training prior to
redeployment to Northern Ireland. The second and more immediate pressure stemmed
from the need to react to the escalation of the IRA bombing campaign in the summer of
1972. Faced with this violent onslaught, the government decided that it could no longer
accommodate the IRA. A particular concern was the way in which the IRA was
establishing itself in Catholic no-go areas in Belfast and Londonderry. Seeking to address
this problem, the Heath government made the decision to commit the largest
concentration of troops ever sent to Northern Ireland, approximately 30,000 troops, to
support Operation Motorman, which aimed to smash down the barricades and bring the
no-go areas back under the control of the state.?

According to one analyst, the clearance of the no-go areas really hurt the capabilities of
the IRA and limited its options in the military realm. The no-go areas had provided the
IRA with a haven in which to plan and conduct operations and rest with little fear of
being arrested. These areas had also allowed to IRA to maintain a constant cycle of low-
level violence, which fed the perception of a province that was out of control. Motorman
broke up hardcore IRA operatives in Belfast and Derry forcing them into the rural areas
and even into Eire. Finally, the no-go areas had also given the appearance of being mini-
states, which helped legitimise the IRA as a shadow government. **

An important aspect of British counterinsurgency in the past has been the significant
effort made to create auxiliary forces to support the British Army. Northern Ireland was
no exception and almost from the start, the Wilson government made a commitment to
raise a locally recruited, mainly part-time force of soldiers to support the regular Army.
To this end the Ulster Defence Regiment (UDR) was created in January 1970. Initially
seven battalions were raised, but the size of the force was increased by a further four
battalions in January 1972.

Information

The biggest problem confronting the Army in 1972 was a lack of intelligence on the IRA.
RUC Special Branch had been discredited during the period of Internment and the RUC
was in state of demoralisation and disorganisation.?* In an effort to address the lack of
intelligence, Brigadier Frank Kitson, commander 39 Infantry Brigade, implemented an
array of measures designed to create a comprehensive intelligence picture of the IRA
using only the resources of the Army. However, it is important to note that these
measures were not fully implemented until 1975.

22 Hamil, p.147

2 M. R. L. Smith, Fighting For Ireland: The Military Strategy of the Irish Republican Movement (London:
Routledge, 1995), p.145

24 Coldstream Guards Post Action Report, April-August 1973
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In the first instance, soldiers played the key role of acting as the Army’s ‘sensors’. To this
end, foot patrols were instructed to gather information about the community in which
they were operating. Members of the public were now stopped routinely and questioned.
Vehicle checks and house searches also became key activities in the Army’s endeavour to
create an information picture of the IRA. This mode of operation was firmly established
in Belfast and Londonderry with the clearance of the barricades and re-establishment of
government control of Catholic no-go areas in July 1972 (Operation Motorman). Once
the barriers were removed, the Army began a detailed survey of the population to create
what was described as a ‘Doomsday’ book. The aim of this exercise was to determine the
pattern of day-to-day life in the Province and identify any changes in these patterns. Even
trivial details like an increase in the quantity of milk ordered by a household from the
local milkman might cause Army intelligence to focus their attention on that household.
Kitson made it clear to all company commanders that they had to achieve a real
understanding of the terrorist and the local population in their area and identify and
destroy the terrorist structure. As a result, foot patrols provided a vital source of
information, which was then recorded on file. Apparently each unit built up its card file,
keeping track on all males in their area over the age of 12. The *Kitson strategy’ resulted
in the Army taking on a more prominent role in the Province. Thus, the Army searched
17,000 homes in 1971, 36,000 houses in 1972 and a staggering 75,000 in 1973. Over four
million cars were also searched in 1973-74.?

Kitson also encouraged an investment in covert surveillance and created the Military
Reconnaissance Force (MRF) to watch and monitor suspected IRA terrorists. These units
were composed of soldiers recruited from ordinary infantry battalions serving in Northern
Ireland. As such, the quality and conduct of the MRFs varied considerably within the
brigade’s area of operations. In line with previous campaigns, Kitson also endeavoured to
penetrate the IRA by persuading its members to desert. Such individuals provided
intelligence and also joined ‘pseudogangs’, which had been used to good effect in
Malaya, Kenya and Dhofar. In the case of Northern Ireland, these individuals were called
‘Freds’, were commanded by an Army captain and resided in an Army barracks at
Lisburn.

It is important to note that the role and activity of ‘Freds’ in Northern Ireland remain
unclear and controversial. However, it seems that the Freds moved around with the MRF
and helped identify members of the IRA. The MRF itself became involved in a variety of
controversial shooting incidents and rather exotic surveillance operations, which involved
the use of a massage parlour and the creation of the Four Square Laundry Service, which
were in the end compromised by a Fred who turned against the security forces and
rejoined the IRA.?®

It appears that the Army requested the deployment of the SAS in the early 1970s to
support the Army’s surveillance operations. However, the government feared that this
would bring about significant escalation in the conflict and so the request was denied. It

% Thomas Mockaitis, British Counterinsurgency in the Post Imperial Era (Manchester, Manchester
University Press, 1995), p.110
% peter Taylor, The Brits: The War Against the IRA (London: Bloomsbury, 2002), p.132
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was not until 1976 that formal units of the SAS began operating in the Province. Less
clear is the role that individual SAS members played in training members of the MRF in
Northern Ireland and it is argued that small teams of the SAS were definitely present
before 1976.

The need to store and update the information gained from surveillance resulted in the
creation of a bureaucratic and inefficient system of filing, which must have limited the
usefulness of this facility or at least slowed the passage of information. As one battalion
report explained:

Currently there are 2 methods of keeping records, P cards and P files. Having 2
methods means duplication of work, usually to the detriment of one or the other.
The P files tend to be amorphous masses of paper, with no specified layout for
index, folio numbers or running traces. We have spent a disproportionate time
bringing both systems up to date.*’

The British Army also began using computers to good effect in their prosecution of the
war. A computer database, ‘“Vengeful’, was created to store the details of all cars in the
Province. The Army also began compiling a computer database holding information on
the Province’s population, such as their names, descriptions, work places, criminal
records, details of trials and political activity since 1969. Computers also played an
important role in identifying the movement of IRA bombs in the Province. For obvious
reasons, the IRA preferred to make their bombs in Eire before moving them across the
border to their targets in Northern Ireland. Because of heavy traffic flows from Eire to the
Province along the main routes, the Army realised that it would be impossible to check
every vehicle physically. Instead, the Army relied on the use of terminals at each vehicle
checkpoint (VCP), which were all linked to a central computer, to process the details of
cars crossing the border on a particular road. If any of these vehicles travelled to Belfast,
they would be identified as originating in Eire at another VCP near Belfast (itself linked
to the computer) and would then be stopped and searched.

Computers really came into use after 1975. At this point, the computer system was linked
to the operations rooms of the brigade headquarters and to control sections in each
battalion. The battalions all had access to Visual Display Units (VDUs), equipped with
transmitters and receivers, which created a secure form of communication. The military
computer system also tapped into the computer systems used by the Northern Ireland
Health Service.

Doctrine and Concepts
There is some controversy over the extent to which the main tenets of counterinsurgency

doctrine were applied to Northern Ireland and over the importance of doctrine in
containing and neutralising the IRA. According to some, the failure of Army in the early

213 Light Infantry Post Action Report, April-August 1975
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years of the conflict was caused in part by its inability to apply its own doctrine.”® In
contrast, others argue that the early failures of Army were caused precisely because it
was attempting to apply colonial COIN doctrine to the conflict.*® Yet another school of
thought has argued that in the post-1976 period, the Army and the government
completely abandoned counterinsurgency in favour of what has been termed an internal
security strategy, which drew heavily on German, Italian and Spanish experience in
dealing with local terrorist groups within their own states.*® What influence then did
doctrine play in this conflict and how was it used as an enabler in the information war?

It is important to note that it was not until 1977 that the British Army articulated a formal
written doctrine on counter-revolutionary warfare. This doctrine provided the intellectual
and practical tools needed to fight terrorism during the troubles in the 1980s and 1990s.
However, as David Benest explains, even if the main tenets of British counterinsurgency
were not documented in a formal and explicit way, the basic tenets of that doctrine were
effectively in place at the start of the conflict. The Army was familiar and well-versed
with texts such as Charles Calwall’s Small Wars of 1896, Charles Gwynn’s Imperial
Policing of 1934, Sir Robert Thompson’s Defeating Communist Insurgency, written in
1966, Julian Paget’s Counter Insurgency Campaigning, published in 1967 and Frank
Kitson’s Low Intensity Operations.

The collective thoughts of these ‘theorists’ formed the following tenets of
counterinsurgency: the articulation of a clear political aim, the Army should operate
within the law, and the grand strategic plan had to embrace all government agencies. In
addition, there was a wealth of experience and knowledge of recent colonial operations
within the officer corps, but more importantly, amongst the Army’s NCOs. This last
group represented the institutional memory of the battalion because they usually served
their full term of service within their regiments.®* Consequently, there was at least a
common set of procedures that formed an informal or implied doctrine within the Army
at this time.

The traditional or orthodox view of British counterinsurgency tells us that one of the key
enablers used by the Army to obtain information was the application of a *hearts and
minds’ strategy. Almost as important is the recognition and understanding that such
conflicts have no military solution and that the centre of gravity lies in the political,
economic and social domain.** An effective counterinsurgency campaign will seek to link
these two areas and hence remove the motive for rebelling against the state. However, the
experience of the British Army in the 1972-76 period forces a reassessment of this rather
simplistic perception.

%8 See for example Mockaitis, pp.96-141
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According to David Benest, the view of ‘hearts and minds’ as the key strategic winner in
British counterinsurgency is actually based more on myth than reality. He asks the
question: what evidence is there to demonstrate that these measures actually worked in
previous campaigns? Based on an examination of colonial campaigns, it is his view that
with the possible exception of Malaya, there is little evidence that such policies won
many converts amongst the targeted population. This was entirely understandable
because of the range of punitive actions used by the military to control the people
undermined the effect of a “hearts and minds’ campaign. In essence, in many examples of
British counterinsurgency “coercion was the reality — “hearts and minds” the myth”.*

This might explain why, during the period of Army primacy (1971-76), there appears to
have been only the minimum effort invested in promoting hearts and minds. In crude
terms one could argue that during the early years of conflict, the Army was entirely aware
of its history in counterinsurgency and sought to apply those lessons against the IRA.
However, those lessons did not really address what are normally perceived to be the more
subtle and sophisticated aspects of British counterinsurgency, i.e. hearts and minds and
the generation of political and economic lines of development. Or it may be the case that
the Army — facing an escalating crisis — focused its initial energies on stabilising the
situation in the Province and creating the secure conditions needed to promote a more
benign environment.

However, this last option does not provide an entirely convincing explanation. The first
point that needs to be made is that the application of the British principles of
counterinsurgency were not viewed as a sequential programme, but were to be
implemented in parallel and simultaneously.** The second and more compelling point
focuses on the strategy adopted by the Army to deal with the terrorists in the 1971-76
period. As has already been said, the ‘Kitson strategy’ envisaged the creation of a
massive system of surveillance that was tantamount to the creation of an ‘Orwellian’
state. The realisation of this strategy did not rely on a hearts and minds programme, but
on the introduction of new equipment, such as computer databases, the creation of new
forms of organisations, for example the MRF, and new processes and operating
procedures that shaped the activities of Army battalions deployed in the Province. What
is significant is the absence of any direct hearts and minds policy.

Newsinger also believes that the Army failed to introduce an effective hearts and minds
programme and argues that this was a strategic error. The nationalist uprising resulted in
the breakdown of law and order and local government in the Catholic areas of the
Province. As a result, the Army was forced to assume responsibility for the day-to-day
running of the community. However, there seems to have been a general reluctance for
the Army to become too closely involved in the governance of local authorities and, as a
result, the Catholic population became responsible for governing themselves.*®

% Col David Benest draft paper ‘Aden to Northern Ireland’, p.118-119

% Discussion with Dr John Pimlott, Head of War Studies Department, Royal Military Academy Sandhurst,
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% Newsinger, p.168
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The failure to build a government infrastructure was acknowledged by a battalion
commander serving in Northern Ireland in 1972:

We formed the lowest opinion of the working of the civil government and the
corporation in both sections of our area. Action was slow when it came and there
seemed to be a total absence of any authority which could be shown as an alternative
to the babel of street committees, Sinn Fein groups or both varieties, CESA and UDA
pressure groups, to say nothing of the IRA and UVF. The reluctant alternative
increasingly becomes the Army, which cannot be good for either side.*

Newsinger also notes that the implementation of Kitson’s strategy served to undermine
whatever hearts and minds policy was in operation in the Province at this time. It is clear
that, even if the Army was not directly involved in the development of a political and
economic line of development, it was nevertheless being implemented by other agencies
and that successive governments made a conscious effort to provide better housing,
employment and legislation to prevent discrimination against Catholics in the Province.’’

Using soldiers to harvest information reinforced the sense of oppression in the
community and this served to antagonise the Catholic population; in the 1974-75 period,
the Army conducted over 75,000 searches of homes and stopped and searched over four
million cars.®® This problem was compounded by the Army’s efforts to create its own
surveillance system via the MRF and ‘Freds’. Both groups came to be shrouded in
controversy because of the MRF’s involvement in a series of shooting incidents in which
innocent civilians were either killed or hurt.* More worrying from the perspective of the
British were accusations that the MRF was used in a shoot-to-kill policy against innocent
Catholics, which entailed employing Protestant paramilitary groups to conduct random
killings. Whilst there is no evidence to support the argument that the British Army
sanctioned a policy of murder, these rumours appeared to explain the rise in Protestant
violence in 1972 and seemed entirely believable from the perspective of the besieged
Catholic population.*

However, | think the views of Benest and Newsinger are overstated. The available
evidence suggests that the regiments that served in Northern Ireland during this time
clearly believed in the promotion of an effective hearts and minds policy and invested
significant resources and time to promote better relations between the Army and the local
community. This is demonstrated by the comments made by battalion commanders in
their post action reports:

% 40 Commando Post Action Report, June-Oct 1972
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| believe that this aspect (community relations) is very important and should be co-
ordinated by a suitably senior officer. | attribute a lot of our success to the effort we
put in making contact with the local community leaders.**

The most important CR/PR (community relations/ public relations) operation was
carried out by the Officers, NCOs and Marines themselves in the streets. This
included helping on local committees and talking to leading citizens in the area,
NCOs answering queries and complaints, and Marines talking to the locals,
particularly the older people and children and winning their confidence. Much good
will was also won after Bloody Friday and other bomb outrages ... The IRA found
that the hard military line combined with this humane psychological approach
difficult to counter.*?

It was essential to have a field officer in the appointment of Community Relations
Officer. This officer played a vital part in the battalion’s secondary, but
nevertheless very important, task of maintaining close links with the local
population. He was in continual contact with representatives of the new Assembly,
the newly elected Londonderry Council and other representatives of the people. By
providing accurate and up to-date information he did much to dispel rumour. The
CRO is a very useful barometer for local feeling.*:

In the case of 40 Commando, they organised the following activities in an effort to win
the support of the local population: trips to the UK for schoolchildren; a week of camping
for local children; weekend camps for local children; day bus trips for children and
pensioners; and trips to the swimming pool and parks in Belfast using service vehicles.*

Such comments are illuminating because they demonstrate that the default setting of
British Army battalions serving in Northern Ireland was to establish links with the
community. It is interesting that every battalion report surveyed for this period referred to
some kind of hearts and minds policy being implemented at the battalion and company
level. But where does the inspiration for such action come from? Is it a product of
historical legacy stemming from a long involvement in imperial policing and
counterinsurgency or is it a product of the social and political culture of Britain, which
has fed into and helped create a distinct military/strategic culture that is conducive to the
effective conduct of low-intensity conflict operations?

Furthermore, no account is taken of the contacts established between the battalion
intelligence cell and informers. Although the success achieved in this area varied
considerably, some of these contacts seem to have been fruitful. For example, a single
battalion deployed in Belfast in 1974 had over 94 informers working for it. Over half of
these contacts had close involvement with or were in paramilitary organisations.*

*1 Scots Guards Post Tour Report, July-November 1972

%2 40 Commando Post Tour Report, June- October 1972

* 3 Anglian Post Tour Report, 1973

* 40 Commando Post Tour Report, June- October 1972

** 3 Royal Green Jackets Post Tour Report, July-November 1974
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Finally, it is clear that units which were conducting extensive and sometimes intrusive
surveillance operations were aware of and tried to mitigate the adverse effects of this
activity on the local population. This was one of the principal reasons why covert
observations points were set up.*®

It is also important not to exaggerate the effect of hearts and minds activities on the
campaign. It did not result in overt support for the Army or greater legitimacy for the role
of the British state in Northern Ireland. However, information was sometimes
forthcoming from members of the local community, who would for example warn
soldiers of a possible IRA ambush. Such information saved lives. Moreover, it did help
limit the recruitment pool available to the IRA. In a survey carried out in 1980,
approximately 60% of IRA recruits joined the movement because of a bad personal
experience with the security forces.*’

Organisation

The British Army employed a traditional military structure and organisation in Northern
Ireland. HQ NI initially had two brigades, each with three or more battalions attached to
it. There was an important difference between the resident battalions, which were in the
Province for two years or more, and the roulement battalions, who were doing short tours
of between four to six months. Resident battalions usually moved with their families and
were therefore deployed to the quieter areas of the Province. They enjoyed better living
conditions and were entitled to more leave. In 1969, there were two resident battalions
but by the late 1970s the number had increased to six, which equalled the number of
battalions on six-month tours. It is unclear whether the length of the tours affected the
relative performance of the forces deployed, but there is some evidence that it did.

In February 1972, a third brigade headquarters was deployed to Northern Ireland. This
was part of a general reinforcement of the Province. The new brigade was responsible for
the security of the border and towns around the environs of Belfast and was based at
Lurgan.

Battalions went through a process of reorganisation before deploying to Northern Ireland:

e Heavy weapons were left in the UK

e Platoons of 30 soldiers were broken up and restructured into multiples of 12 men,
which were further divided into three bricks of four.

e The intelligence capability within each battalion was expanded significantly.

e An Intelligence NCO on a two-year deployment to the Province was usually
attached to the battalion when first deployed to ensure continuity.

“® 3 Light Infantry Post Tour Report, April-August 1974
" Mockaitis, p.115
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e By 1974, approximately 80 soldiers were allocated to the battalion intelligence
cell.®®

The most important organisational change that took place in this time period was the
implementation of direct rule. This decision resulted in the creation of the Northern
Ireland Office, the import of a mass of British civil servants, an expansion of MI5 and the
elimination of a divided command structure.

The period also saw a notable tactical shift from platoon- and company-sized operations
to the four-man brick as the basic tactical unit.

In operational terms, the campaign was coordinated by a series of committees similar to
those employed in Malaya. As in the case of Malaya, this organisation was designed to
ensure that intelligence was disseminated as fast as possible and that security, political,
economic and military lines of development were coordinated effectively.

The committee system used in Northern Ireland was not as effective as its predecessor.
Its failings were attributed to the absence of a Director of Operations, the Army’s
generally poor relationship with the RUC and the lack of political representation at the
lower levels of the committee structure.

Organisational effectiveness was also undermined by the use of different boundaries by
the Army, the police and the civil authorities:

All boundaries affect operations. In Belfast there are many; military, RUC, parish,
etc. The urban terrorist like most enemies exploits boundaries. He does this by
operating on, near or across them, hoping to exploit either indecision or lack of
cooperation by commanders, own forced firing at each other or drawing one force
towards a boundary and then ambushing it.*

Both M15 and MI6 had agents operating in Northern Ireland. In 1972, the position of
Director Controller of Intelligence was created in an attempt to coordinate the
intelligence services’ activities. As well as combining the different services, the post was
also designed to provide the Secretary of State for Northern Ireland with access to the
latest information on the most recent developments in the Province. However, these
actions were mere palliatives and failed to address the fundamental need for a central
organisation to direct and coordinate the intelligence effort.>

In the absence of an effective intelligence capability or agency, the Army began
developing its own covert surveillance units to monitor the IRA. The two notable
developments on this front were the creation of the MRF and the pseudogangs. The
members of the MRF were recruited from within the Army and conducted covert

“8 3 Para Post Tour Report, February-June 1974
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surveillance operations against the IRA. Their most notable success was the operation of
the Four Square Laundry Service and the running of the Gemini massage parlour. The
MREF relied on information provided by informers, the majority of whom were to be
found in the pseudogangs. The pseudogangs consisted of former IRA men who had been
‘turned’ by a variety of means. Their most important function was in helping military
intelligence build up an order of battle (orbat) of the IRA. They also moved around with
Army units helping them identify IRA suspects.”

One of the most significant changes made by the Army was the creation of a new
surveillance organisation called ‘14 intelligence Company’. The primary function of this
unit was to watch the IRA and their Protestant counterparts. Recruitment began in 1973
and members from all the services were eligible to join. However, the selection process
was extremely thorough; of the initial batch of 300 volunteer candidates in 1973, only 17
passed to go on to the six-month training course.*

The strength of the RUC increased from 3,500 personnel in 1971 to over 6,500 in the
mid-1970s. Police stations were grouped into 16 divisions that corresponded roughly with
Army battalions. A number of these divisions were then grouped into one of the three
regions: Belfast, South and North. Each region was commanded by an assistant constable
with the same authority as a brigadier. The three assistant constables reported to the chief
constable in police headquarters, Knock, East Belfast.*®

Infrastructure

There is nothing on this subject in the literature for this phase.

Logistics

A survey of battalion post-action reports indicates that all regiments were satisfied with
the logistical support they received whilst serving in Northern Ireland. The only regular
complaint concerned the poor provision for clothing, which tended to wear out very
quickly whilst on operations.>*

Information and Networked Flow of Material Awareness

In general, the flow of information went up a vertical stovepipe. Units on the ground had
no sense of how significant this information was or how it was used by the intelligence

%! See Faligot, pp.1-39
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services. Although frustrating, there was a general acceptance that information had to be
passed on a need-to-know basis.>

It is important to note that information flows were affected by the wider political situation
in Northern Ireland. In an effort to secure a settlement, the government agreed to a
ceasefire between 1975 and 1976. Whilst this provided time and space for negotiations,
the military found this period very restrictive in terms of its intelligence-gathering
operations.

The normal intelligence-gathering system was severely hampered by the ceasefire
restrictions. The cessation of screening was the most significant limiting factor, which not
only reduced the acquisition of low-level intelligence but also denied the option of
arresting potential sources. Before the ceasefire, over 50% of the unit’s resources were
interviewed in this manner. The restrictions also complicated the gathering of intelligence
detail and source meetings.*®

Perceptions of Quality of Information and Networking (Measures of Information
Position)

The committee system that was been used to such good effect in the Malayan campaign
was recreated in Northern Ireland. As such, it should have resulted in the rapid processing
and dissemination of intelligence. However, the system did not work that well. Part of the
problem was that the top level security meeting, which was attended by the General
Officer Commanding (GOC), the Chief Constable and the Secretary of State was too big
a venue in which to discuss the campaign; there were simply too many people involved.>’

The Army-RUC relation relates directly to the nature of information flows and
networking. In the early days of the conflict, the Army assumed the lead role for security;
the RUC was at this time demoralised, partly by the termination of the B Specials and
also by the Special Branch’s failure during the period of internment. However, a
combination of factors served to undermine this asymmetrical relationship and, with
time, the RUC became more assertive, more demanding and at times more suspicious of
the Army. As a result, organisational linkages and the effectiveness of these connections
varied enormously from area to area. The personality of local Army officers and their
RUC counterparts seems to have been most important factor determining if and how
information was received.”®

It is also important to note that there was a considerable degree of compartmentalisation
and friction within the RUC itself. The Army encountered a situation in which Special
Branch, Criminal Investigation Division (CID) and uniformed RUC did not communicate

% Interviews with Col Benest and Lt-Col Bruce
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or share information with one another. In one case, the Army battalion commander had to
organise weekly meetings to ensure all elements of the RUC met and discussed matters
relating to intelligence.>® As one battalion commander explained:

What is not apparent until one grapples with it on the ground is the patchy nature of
the intelligence organisation available to the security forces in Northern Ireland. The
military part is well constructed and directed at all levels but the same cannot be said
for the all part of the Special Branch, which varies greatly in its quality, its
interpretation of the aim of operations, and in some ways its understanding of the
related roles of itself and the Army in fulfilling the aim.®

This contrast between the Army’s capabilities and those of Special Branch were echoed
by another battalion commander:

In contrast the Army’s own intelligence system seemed to be in a good state:

We inherited a good intelligence organisation from our predecessors. At unit level this
included orbats, personality files, street registers and subject files on subversive
organisation and tactics. ... These records were updated and improved throughout the
tour.

With the closure of PHCs (police holding cells), little intelligence was forthcoming
from Special Branch, therefore we had to rely on intelligence gained on the streets.
We formed Int Patrols of a SNCO and four men in each company areas. These
patrolled the streets 12-14 hours a day in the early stages of the tour and soon became
experts on the local geography and personalities. They briefed the patrol commanders
and made the majority of arrests in their Coy areas. They compiled a detailed street
census of all Catholic areas. These patrols provided the majority of our contact
intelligence throughout the tour. *

There was some variation in this experience and one battalion, on an 18-month tour in
Northern Ireland, concluded that of the four sources of intelligence available (Special
Branch, the UDR, patrols, military sources), Special Branch provided the highest grade of
intelligence. The key difference between this verdict and the experience of other
battalions may relate to the closer cooperation with the police enabled by the longer
duration of the battalion’s deployment.®?

A conscious effort was made to improve the Army’s understanding of the IRA. To this
end, NITAT employed a MoD scientific officer to debrief and interview soldiers
regarding the information obtained while serving in Northern Ireland. This information
would then be used to create a picture of the IRA to be used to inform training, tactics
and strategy. The report provided a profile of the socio-economic status of the IRA
terrorist, his daily routine, and their preferred mode of operation. In addition, the report
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explained how the IRA was organised and set out the main pillars of its strategic plan. A
second report was prepared, which looked in detail at the attitudes of the Protestant and
Catholic communities in Northern Ireland. This report was to help the soldiers gain a
better insight and understanding of the levels of fears and anxieties dividing the two
communities and the role played by the Army in exacerbating these concerns.®

Certain internal weaknesses in the Army’s handling of intelligence were also identified
and this impacted on the exploitation of information. One regiment identified the
following weaknesses in intelligence organisation: poor training in file management of
intelligence records, the need for military intelligence officers (MI10s), they saw a Special
Branch officer once every two days, the need for more FINCOs and a more efficient
system of intelligence banking and processing at HQ NI and or Brigade level.** Another
battalion found that records were not up to date and that a lot of time and effort was
therefore invested in reorganising paperwork.

Measures of Operational Success/Failure in relation to Information/Networking
(Measures of Decision Superiority)

Although it is possible to question the claim that the Army had effectively won the war
by 1975, there is no doubt that the situation in the Province began to improve after 1972.
The most obvious indicator of this was the marked fall in casualties caused by terrorist
attacks. In 1973, the number of people killed was half that of the preceding year.®

The Army’s actions also had a significant impact on the capability of the IRA. By the
time of the ceasefire in 1975, the Army had removed six IRA brigade headquarters.®

As Bishop and Mallie explain, greater success in identifying and arresting IRA members
resulted in the IRA hiding its most important people and effectively taking them off the
streets. Gerry Adams, as the Belfast Brigade Commander, returned from talks in London
to lead a secret life that entailed a succession of moves to keep him safe. He was
eventually captured in 1973 and was succeeded by Ivor Bell, who survived until 1974
before being arrested. He in turn was succeeded by Seamus Convery, who lasted a few
weeks before also being arrested. His successor, Brendan Hughes, lasted only two
months before being captured in May. This loss of leaders had a profound effect on the
IRA. Although more volunteers were found, those who stepped in to replace men lost
were not always as motivated and joined the movement because of family pressure and a
sense of duty. The IRA was also forced to select from a wider and more heterogeneous
base, which had a negative impact on the cohesion of the organisation.®’
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8 Coldstream Guards Post Tour Report, April- August 1973

% See Appendix 1

% Hamil, p.151

¢ Eamonn Mallie & Patrick Bishop, The Provisional IRA (London: Corgi Books, 1987), p.242
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British intelligence also experienced significant successes in this phase of the conflict. In
March 1973, they warned the Irish Navy to stop and search a Libyan cargo ship, the
Claudia, because they suspected that it was carrying arms supplies from Libya. The Irish
Navy seized four tons of Libyan arms, including 250 assault rifles, 500 grenades and 100
anti-tank mines, and arrested six prominent members of the IRA. Apparently the ship was
monitored by air by RAF Nimrod reconnaissance aircraft and by Royal Navy
submarines.®

The IRA also had their successes. In 1972, a member of the pseudogang confessed to the
IRA that he had been working for the British — his intelligence compromised the MRF’s
use of the Four Square Laundry and the Gemini massage parlour. The IRA also gained
detailed intelligence on how the MRF used these businesses as front to hide their covert
surveillance. On 2 October 1972, the IRA launched simultaneous attacks against the Four
Square Laundry van and the Gemini massage parlour. One soldier died in the ambush on
the van; the surveillance unit in the massage parlour was more fortunate and was able to
escape when one of the IRA gunmen involved in the attack dropped his weapon, causing
it to discharge. Both the MRF and the Freds were disbanded soon after this incident.

A second success against the British took place in 1973. Brendan Hughes, the Belfast
Brigade Commander, set up a technical section within the IRA. One of the first actions of
this unit was to bug the telephone of the Intelligence desk in the Army’s main
headquarters in Lisburn. They also managed to procure a descrambler so that it was
possible to understand the tape recordings. This operation went on for several months,
until the capture of Brendan Hughes by the RUC Special Branch accidentally unearthed a
stockpile of tape recordings of the G2 Intelligence section’s phone calls.®

Evaluation of the Information and Networking Contribution to the Outcomes of the
Operation (Measures of Campaign Effectiveness)

If we assume that there is a British way of war in counterinsurgency, one of its
distinguishing characteristics lies in the British Army’s acquisition and exploitation of
information to identify and neutralise the insurgent or terrorist. In this period, the Army’s
traditional approach to the acquisition and exploitation of information was limited by
what had happened in the previous three years, i.e. internment and Bloody Sunday, which
alienated the Catholic community; the fact that the Army operated under the authority of
the Stormont government, which was not a comfortable relationship for the Army; and
the failure of the RUC or indeed other security agencies like MI5 to provide useful
intelligence on the threat. In essence, in 1972, the British Army was virtually operating in
an information vacuum. Under these circumstances, Kitson’s strategy provided a
framework around which to organise the Army’s resources and set out clear objectives,
which allowed the Army to focus its activities.

% Tony Geraghty, The Irish War: A Military History of a Domestic Conflict (London: Harper Collins,
1998), p.181
% Taylor, p.30
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The most important of these actions was definitely the acquisition of intelligence and it is
clear that the Army had by 1975 achieved a great deal of success on this front. It had
effectively penetrated the IRA and, by 1974, most of its key leaders were either in prison
or on the run. This achievement was made possible through the Army’s efforts to
generate a vast amount of data on the activities in its area of operations, the creation of
new covert forms of surveillance and the development of information systems and
computers, which allowed vast quantities of data to be stored and processed at an
unprecedented rate. The creation of this extensive surveillance network denied the IRA
the freedom of action to which it had grown accustomed and which had previously
enabled it to organise attacks against the security services and the wider population.

Less apparent in this phase was evidence of the traditional hearts and minds policy,
which had been used in previous campaigns to allow the Army to network within the
wider community. Obviously, in the case of Northern Ireland, overt surveillance
sometimes complicated this effort, but it is clear that battalions operating in the Province
at this time did not see these activities as mutually exclusive and tried to conduct both
simultaneously. Although this activity did not provide significant dividends in terms of
gaining information or winning the unconditional support of the community, it did help to
contain the spread of disaffection within the Catholic community and hence contain the
conflict. Moreover, it also reinforced the government’s implementation of its own macro-
economic hearts and minds programme within the Province.

The political-economic and military lines of development seemed to come into conflict
over the degree to which surveillance and military action should be limited or even
stopped to allow for the possibility of a political settlement. During this period, both the
Heath and Wilson governments saw an opportunity to find a political solution to the
troubles and this had a profound impact on the conduct of Army’s operations during the
1972-75 period. There is some evidence that a large element within the Army opposed
these efforts because it prevented them from doing their job, which was to destroy the
IRA. According to Benest by 1974: ‘amongst the military the belief that PIRA was
finished was commonly expressed’.”

Smith also believes that the IRA was in trouble by 1974 and that this had motivated their
acceptance of the ceasefire. Why did they agree to a ceasefire? In part, the decision was
based on a desire to redeem itself in the eyes of the Catholic community after the horrors
of the Birmingham bombing. The IRA also saw the ceasefire as a way of generating time
and space. It was very clear that the group’s military campaign was losing momentum: in
1973, 79 members of the security forces had been killed compared to 50 in 1974; the
number of shootings in the same period also fell from 5,018 to 3,306 and bombings from
978 to 685. Finally, there were those in the IRA who were genuinely interested in
negotiating a political settlement and wanted to know what the government was prepared
to offer.”t Under the favourable terms and conditions of the ceasefire, the Army was
forced to watch as the IRA became stronger — not only did military pressure subside, but
the end of internment also meant that all IRA prisoners were released.

" Col Benest, unpublished paper p.137
™ Smith, p.129
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It is clear that the Army was divided on the merits of this approach: some felt obliged to
support the ceasefire, others regarded it as a cynical IRA ploy to ‘get well’.”* However, in
spite of these differences, the long established traditions and culture of the British Army
ensured that they did not challenge the government’s policies either overtly or covertly,
even though they regarded them as naive and as undermining the Army’s achievements.

It is worth reiterating the point that the success achieved by the Army in this phase was
not simply due to the imposition of a hard and rather blunt strategy designed to meet the
specific military conditions in Northern Ireland. The implication of this statement is that
there is little evidence of a template being applied by the British in this campaign and
hence no real evidence of a British way of war in low-intensity operations.

Scrutiny of what battalions were doing on the ground suggests that the Army
endeavoured to work with the civil authorities and the community as a way of generating
information. In essence the orthodox template of British counterinsurgency was alive and
well in Northern Ireland at this time and the wider social networking undertaken by many
of the battalions played a role in shaping the conflict. However, the significance of this
action only became apparent in subsequent years.
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